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ouR Vision is an 
economically 
thriving and 
resilient rural 
africa.
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ouR Mission 
is to support 
sustainaBle 
livelihoods 
for africa’s 
smallholder 
farmers.



2015 was a landmark 
year for Gorta-Self 
Help Africa. We 
reached more people 
than ever before 
in the fight to end 
extreme hunger and 
poverty in Africa. 

for most people in europe 
however, the enduring images 
from 2015 will be those of 
desperate refugees and 
economic migrants seeking 
sanctuary in europe. many 
of them are fleeing not war in 
syria, but poverty in africa.

as the head of an international 
agricultural development 
organisation working in africa, 
i am often asked why we don’t 
work to tackle the human 
tragedy that has seen record 
numbers fleeing their homes.

my answer to such questions is 
a short one. We are.

Farming for Africa’s 
Future

 malidadi chilongo, Kalonga, malawi.

for it is only by improving the livelihoods of rural poor people in 
africa that we will ultimately provide them with an acceptable 
alternative to the choices currently being made by millions, as they 
uproot their families from their communities to seek ‘a better life’ 
somewhere else.

only by boosting growth in economies, creating jobs, and ensuring 
that countries and communities can provide a future for their 
people, will the current challenge of migration be resolved.

for too long we have failed to properly solve the problem of 
extreme poverty that casts a shadow across developing countries.  
there are almost 800 million people worldwide living in extreme 
poverty - that’s one in nine of our global population, and proof that 
we are continuing to fail the poorest and the most vulnerable.

at gorta-self help africa, our focus will remain on supporting rural 
poor communities to support themselves through an innovative mix 
of agricultural and enterprise development activities.

We know how to help lift communities across africa out of poverty; 
our goal is to continue, year on year, to deliver these solutions to 
many more of them.

raymond Jordan
chief executive officer 
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ouR WoRK in 
nine african 
countries 
is ending 
poverty and 
improving the 
lives of local 
communities.
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West AFRiCA: Working with rural youth is becoming increasing 
important to gorta-self help africa’s work in West africa. along 
with his father, issouf Kabre from Burkina faso is being supported 
to keep bees and produce honey. 

uGAnDA: rice farmer flora nyirangaba is being supported by a 
project focused on improving household nutrition through better 
farming practices. gorta-self help africa is the lead agricultural 
advisor in 15 districts, on this usaid-backed project.

KenYA: supporting enterprising farmers like rose mutai to move 
from subsistence to prosperity is at the core of gorta-self help 
africa’s work in Kenya.

ZAMBiA: purity mulenga is a teenager living in luwingu district in 
Zambia’s northern province. she is amongst 80,000 people who 
are benefitting from working with gorta-self help africa on a five-
year local development project being funded by irish aid. 

etHiopiA: Kedija ahmedin’s family are being supported on a 
livestock development project. gorta-self help africa’s work in 
ethiopia focuses on helping farmers to increase production, develop 
new enterprises and have better access to markets.

MAlAWi: ethel Khundi has been supported to start a small 
farm business rearing pigs. gorta-self help africa’s work 
in malawi is supporting farmers to increase and diversify 
production, and cope with the impact of climate change.
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ZAMBiA: Gorta-Self Help 
Africa’s largest project is a 
five-year, Irish Aid-funded 
local development project 
that commenced in Northern 
Province in early 2013. 

programme focus is on 
two key areas: sustainable 
agriculture and nutrition.

current projects cover: 
food and nutrition security, 
research into and production 
of improved varieties of seeds, 
rural enterprise development, 
savings and credit, income 
generation, watershed 
management, sustainable 
agriculture and environmental 
rehabilitation.

West AFRiCA: Gorta-
Self Help Africa’s West 
Africa programme operates 
across four countries - 
Burkina Faso, Ghana, Togo 
and Benin. Projects are 
implemented through local 
partners, with the focus 
on adding value to farm 
production and creating 
links between small-scale 
agricultural producers and 
private sector companies.

Because of the hot, dry climate 
and unpredictable weather 
patterns of the region, there 
is a particular emphasis on 
promoting farming approaches 
that are ‘climate-smart’, and 
enable farming communities to 
diversify their production.

MAlAWi: Gorta-Self Help 
Africa is working on a 
combination of directly 
implemented and partner-
led projects in Malawi. 
The programme goal, to 
support smallholder farming 
communities to achieve 
sustainable livelihoods, is in 
line with the government’s 
current Growth and 
Development Strategy II. 

the largest single project 
is discover, a five-year 
collaborative venture with 
a number of international 
partners that seeks to support 
households in adapting to 
climate change. discover is 
at its mid-point, with our work 
taking place in the far north, in 
Karonga district. 

etHiopiA: Increasing farm 
production, supporting new 
enterprise and developing 
market opportunities for 
farmers is at the core of 
Gorta-Self Help Africa’s work 
in Ethiopia.

current projects in the country 
also focus on strengthening 
community-based seed 
production, improving the 
resilience of communities 
to a changing climate, and 
improving productivity and 
livestock value chains.

uGAnDA: Gorta-Self Help 
Africa is the lead agricultural 
adviser in a USAID-funded 
development project in 
Uganda. The nutrition-
focused scheme is underway 
in 15 districts across the 
country and is one of Gorta-
Self Help Africa’s largest 
projects.

elsewhere, work is underway 
to develop community-based 
seed enterprises, to promote 
agri-based enterprises and to 
tackle the impact of climate 
change on rural farming 
households.

KenYA: Supporting 
smallholder farmers to 
move from subsistence to 
prosperity is central to our 
programme work in Kenya.

our largest scheme in Kenya 
is supporting 20,000 people 
to increase farm production 
and establish enterprises in the 
Keringet region of the drought-
prone rift valley province. the 
project focusses primarily on 
dairy and potato production. 
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ouR 
BelieFs:
We believe that food security is a fundamental 
human right and, in this age of increasing global 
prosperity, it is an outrage that more than 800 
million people suffer from chronic hunger.

We believe in the capacity of the people we work 
with and we work to empower people to become 
agents of their own development. 

We have a strong belief in solidarity over charity; 
that interventions can only be solutions if we 
work in tandem, as equal partners, with local 
authorities at the community, regional and 
national level.

in line with the sustainable development 
goals we believe in long-term, sustainable, 
market-based solutions that respect the natural 
environment.
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Climate-
smart
Sub-Saharan Africa is one of the most 
vulnerable regions on earth to global 
warming. This situation is made worse by its 
poor state of economic development and by 
the limited capability of many countries and 
communities to adapt to a changing climate.

Baba Wedrago, sika village, 
Burkina faso.
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agricultural production in the belt of countries below the sahara 
desert is particularly vulnerable to climate change, with some 
projections calculating that global warming could see production 
of cereal crops alone fall by up to 30% across the region in the 
coming decade.

Global warming could see 
production of cereal crops 
alone fall by up to 30%.

this is a challenge confronting gorta-self help africa in our bid 
to lift millions of rural poor people out of poverty. the effects that 
climate change is having on the length of growing seasons, and on 
the reliability of rain-fed farming, combined with the threat posed 
by destructive flooding is making it harder for the most vulnerable 
– small-scale farming communities – to manage their land and the 
production that they need to feed their families.

anecdotal evidence of weather changes are now commonplace, 
which is why climate-smart agricultural practices are being 
promoted across our projects, to support communities whose food 
production systems are at risk.

in the past year extreme weather events that have been blamed on 
global warming have had a devastating effect on huge numbers of 
people in two countries gorta-self help africa works.

in January 2015, the president of malawi declared a state of 
emergency in more than a dozen districts because of flooding that 
affected over one million people. less than a year later, malawi 
faced a severe drought, with hundreds of thousands of farmers 
affected, and up to 2.8 million people at risk of food shortages, 
according to the un World food programme. 

meanwhile, in ethiopia, chronic drought aggravated by an 
intensified el niño weather pattern left up to 10 million people at 
risk of food insecurity, in a country where up to 90% of farming 
households rely on rain-fed agriculture.

Baba Wedrago, sika village, Burkina faso.
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seed production initiatives that improve community access 
to early-yielding and drought-tolerant crop varieties, farming 
techniques such as ‘zero tillage’ land preparation that provides an 
alternative to ploughing and the consequent loss of soil moisture, 
as well as measures that encourage and promote dry season 
irrigated horticulture are all central to a programme of work being 
carried out by gorta-self help africa to support sommunities to 
cope with a chnaging climate.

education, information and different farming approaches are 
also central to this climate-smart approach, with alternative 
crop varieties, including hardy dry land staples like sorghum and 
millet, plus root vegetables such as cassava, being promoted as 
substitutes to more vulnerable cereal crops.

Baba Wedrago, sika village, Burkina faso.
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sylvia namfukwe, nsunda village, 
northern province, Zambia.



1.8 Million
total beneficiaries

290,000
farming families assisted

55:45
ratio of female beneficiaries
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new tech 
solutions

New technologies 
have never been as 
important as they 
are today in the fight 
to end hunger and 
poverty in Africa.

data-gathering methods 
to assess and analyse 
information, early 
warning systems, and 
telecommunication 
technologies to share and 
disseminate information are 
all being harnessed today in a 
bid to improve the efficiency, 
impact and reach of our 
programmes to end poverty.

during 2015, mobile phone 
technology – used to share 
knowledge and information – 
assumed a central central role 
in the work of gorta-self help 
africa in sub-saharan africa.

for most smallholder farmers 
across africa, one of the 
main challenges to increasing 

productivity is the lack of reliable farming information. how can 
you improve your work when there’s no available information on 
improved work practices?

Only 5% of rural 
households have electricity, 
but upwards of 65% have 
access to mobiles.

farming advice is expensive to provide on a one-on-one basis, 
so for many years gorta-self help africa has used a ‘lead farmer’ 
model, where information is channeled at a farming community 
through one model farmer. this cuts the cost of information 
transfer.

in recent years, the uptake of mobile technology across africa has 
offered another, much more cost-effective way, of reaching farmers.

gorta-self help africa and its mobile partner human network 
international (hni) have helped to pioneer the development 
of demand-driven farming information through mobile phone 
networks. 

in malawi, uganda, Burkina faso and Zambia, we are now 
partnering with a range of mobile network providers to 



charity Kamwala, nsuda village, 
northern province, Zambia.
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provide free, on-demand farming information across a range of 
crops to farmers. farmers dial in to the service and, using touch-
tone technology, access a voice message about a specific crop or 
farming practice.

for mobile network providers, this free information is a compelling 
reason for subscribers to continue using their network. for gorta-
self help africa, it’s a low-cost way of reaching tens of thousands 
of farmers with relevant, crop-specific farming information at the 
right time of the season.

in malawi, gorta-self help africa has joined with a range of 
government and civil society organisations to agree on farming 
advice for crops ranging from maize and peanut to rice and 
cassava. that service has recorded an average of 36,000 calls per 
month from farmers across the country.

in a country where only 5% of rural households have electricity, but 
upwards of 65% have access to mobiles, the ability of farmers to 
access information via telephone is invaluable.

most mobile users across africa still use non-smart phones, so a 
service based on voice messaging is still critical. however, with the 
increasing adoption of lower-cost smart phones in these markets, 
gorta-self help africa is about to pilot messaging which allows 
users to stream video content for free to these phones.

this pilot work will be aimed at delivering information not to 
farmers, but to extension workers - those employed by government 
or civil society organisations to teach farmers about new and 
improved practices.

gorta-self help africa hopes to continue to roll out new ict 
solutions for the agriculture sector, in partnership with mobile 
network providers, in the years ahead.

36,000
calls per month
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ouR 
AppRoACH
the organisation works both with its own african 
staff, and through local partners to undertake a 
range of integrated development programmes 
amongst rural communities. how we do it:

Enterprise Development: rural enterprise 
development is at the core of our work. linking 
small-scale farmers, cooperatives and producer 
groups to the market is key to improving ‘the 
bottom line’. 

Gender: african women produce up to 80% of 
the food on small-scale farms yet receive just a 
fraction of the available support. gender inequality 
is a major obstacle to improved outcomes. We 
are working to level that playing field. 

Climate Change: as farming depends on 
rainfall, a major part of our work is helping 
vulnerable communities adapt to climate change. 

Agriculture & Nutrition: it is not just the 
quantity of food but also the quality of food 
being produced that is important. a balanced, 
diversified diet helps african families to escape 
from hunger and poverty. 

Micro-Finance: access to affordable micro-
finance is vital if smallholders are to invest in 
developing their farming businesses. 

Cooperatives: By working together in farmer 
cooperatives and producer groups, small-scale 
farmers can access better prices for their crops. 
together is usually better.
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purity mulenga, malela village, 
northern province, Zambia.
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ejigayehu Bekele and daughter mebrat 
gulilat, garmama village, oromia, 
ethiopia.
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Impressive progress was made globally to end 
extreme hunger and poverty in the 15 years of 
the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), 
which ended in late 2015.

however, although the mdgs are credited with lifting the incomes 
of 700 million people in poor regions above the ‘extreme poverty’ 
threshold of $1.25 a day, hundreds of millions remain mired in 
poverty, both in fragile states and in poverty pockets within states 
which have experienced significant economic growth in recent 
years.

Hundreds of millions 
remain mired in poverty, 
both in fragile states and 
in poverty pockets.

Just a two-hour drive south of the bustling ethiopian capital, 
addis ababa, is one such poverty pocket, Boset, where nearly all 
households are subsistence farmers, and up to 85% of people rely 
on food aid for at least a part of the year.

strides in 
Development
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getachew miko, dirma village,
oromia, ehtiopia.
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the contrasts between addis ababa and Boset could not be starker. one 
is a burgeoning regional metropolis that launched its own light-rail service 
in 2015; the other an impoverished region where the struggle for survival 
is an everyday reality.

home to a population of over 165,000 people, Boset is characterised 
by arid conditions and poor soils. climate change is blamed locally 
for increasingly erratic rainfall patterns. agriculture is anything but 
dependable.

it is here that gorta-self help africa began working with 6,000 smallholder 
farming families two years ago. providing farm training and sharing 
knowledge about how to farm effectively in challenging climate conditions 
provided the bedrock for a programme of agricultural support activities 
that are having a transformational effect within a short time. 

farming families are improving their productivity by using drought-tolerant 
crop varieties, by inter-cropping nitrogen-fixing beans with cereal crops, 
and by using innovative measures such as the production and promotion 
of a locally devised ‘land ripper’ that tills the land in a way that retains 
moisture in the soil.

Boset experienced its worst drought in half a century in 2015, with high 
rates of crop failure across the region. despite this however, farmers 
working with gorta-self help africa reported good yields of improved 
varieties of drought tolerant haricot bean, teff (cereal), peanut and mung 
bean, the latter being newly introduced to the area. maize yields increased 
on average by almost 32%, from 3115 kg per hectare to 4100 kg/ha, and 
haricot beans by 69% from 1331kg per hectare to 2250 kg/ha.

shewaye tegegne, a 48-year-old widow and mother of six from Buta 
donkore village, said she recently produced 800 kilos of improved-variety 
teff on her land and had sold it for more than 11,000 ethiopian birr (€400). 
“i used some of this money to buy a calf that i am now rearing,” she said.

much has been written in recent years about the rising economies and 
new middle classes across sub-saharan africa. it’s refreshing to see 
news emerging from the continent that is built on a narrative of enterprise, 
growth and progress.

But there remain many challenges to growth across africa, especially 
in areas of extreme fragility, where communities have limited access to 
support, to markets and to opportunity. While we celebrate the success 
of africa rising, we cannot forget the many millions who remain locked in 
extreme poverty. 
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flora nyirangaba, 
Kamwenge district, 
uganda.
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AGRiCultuRe 
is the main 
source of 
income for 64% 
of the people 
of africa.
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“Good things come to those 
who are prepared to work 
hard for them.”

Lillian Makukula 
lillian is an enterprising 
grandmother whose success 
as a poultry producer in 
manjakazi village in eastern 
Zambia is an inspiration to 
others.
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For the women 
of Tonte village in 
the savannahs of 
Northern Togo, rice 
has become an 
important part of life.

rice first became 
commonplace in the region 
when the un distributed 
emergency rice rations during a 
series of food crises in the early 
years of the new millennium. 
since then the grain has 
become as popular as maize 
and millet to the local diet. and 
it has become much more than 
that for the people of tonte.

today, thanks to support from 
gorta-self help africa, 100 
farming households earn a 
living from growing, processing, 
marketing and trading rice 
across the region. 91 of 
the farmers involved in the 
enterprise are women.

sanqogou lalle, tonte 
village, togo.
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Sana Mamata 
sana never had an education, 
but she is proud that she can 
now support her own kids 
through school, and particularly 
proud to be able to sponsor 
her eldest son’s journey to 
university.

a farmer who grows rice, millet 
and sorghum on a six-acre 
farm in central Burkina faso, 
sana says the money she 
earns from selling rice and 
from vegetables she grows 
on an irrigated communal plot 
has allowed her to fund her 
children’s education.
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Yeshareg Abene
yeshareg is the accountant for 
the Kenenisa rural savings 
and credit cooperative. 

gorta-self help africa has 
been supporting rusaccos 
like yeshareg’s in ethiopia for 
ten years and in that time their 
membership has swelled to 
50,000 members. 
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Ethel Khundi
ethel is a young mum and 
a pig farmer in mkhonde 
village in central malawi. 
she’s been supported with 
start-up breeding stock and 
training in livestock care and 
management. ethel has started 
to earn a good living from her 
small business. 
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Annemarie Venegbe 
annemarie is the chairperson 
of a 57-strong irrigated 
vegetable production group 
in Zombrebonghin village in 
Burkina faso.

the irrigation support that her 
group received has enabled 
the villagers to diversify the 
food that they grow and 
improve their yields despite the 
changing weather conditions in 
the region. 

“Things have changed from 
when I was young. There is 
no longer enough rain.”
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(left to right) amrula hairedin, hairedin 
mekina, abdishikur hairedin, munira 
hairedin, Kolololeka village, ethiopia.
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Financial 
statements
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letter 
from the 
Chairperson

2015 was an enormously successful and 
productive year for Gorta-Self Help Africa.  

it was the first full year of operation since our formal merger in 
July 2014 and this report shows how joining gorta with self 
help africa has resulted in an organisation that’s greater than 
the sum of the parts.

in 2015, we invested more funds, implemented more 
programmes, and reached more people than ever before.  

thanks to the backing and generosity of organisations, 
institutions and individual donors we have seen our annual 
turnover climb to more than €20 million for the first time 
ever, with approximately €17.85 million of that revenue being 
spent on development projects to support food production, 
enterprise, and the eradication of poverty in africa.

We are constantly working to improve the quality of that work 
too. to that end, in 2015 we improved our monitoring and 
evaluation systems, the management of quality control, our 
procurement and logistics procedures, and the ict systems 
that manage data and record data across the organisation.

many of these areas might appear to be secondary to our core 
work – applying agricultural solutions to the problems affecting 
rural poor communities in africa – but the systems that are now 
in place are critical.  they allow us to deliver greater impact with 
more efficiency. 
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At Gorta-Self Help Africa, we believe that 
improved productivity and incomes from 
farming offer a key path out of poverty for 
millions across Africa.

as the chairman of gorta-self help africa, i am enormously 
proud of these achievements and the people who have 
delivered them.

i am grateful to our Board of directors for the oversight and 
guidance that they provide to the organisation, and to the 
many skilled people who give their time voluntarily to advise 
and support us, as members of our advisory committees in 
programmes, audit and finance, and communications and 
marketing.

enormous credit is also due to our ceo, ray Jordan, for the 
manner in which he has led gorta-self help africa to year on 
year growth for the past six years. and my thanks also goes to 
his management team, to our african country directors, and to 
all of the organisation’s staff – across africa, in ireland, the uK 
and united states - for the dedication and commitment and 
that they show in pursuit of our goals.

there are many others to be acknowledged for the 
contributions being made to the work that we do. included 
amongst these are the many individuals and institutions 
who lend their backing to us each year, the local ngos and 
community-based organisation partners in africa who assist us 
in implementing our strategies and our programmes, and the 
network of international partners with whom we collaborate. to 
them all i say a heartfelt ‘thank you.’
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tasokwa mzembe and malidadi 
chilongo at the sanambe irrigation 
scheme, Kalonga, malawi.
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for all of the achievements that have been made during 2015, 
enormous challenges remain.

although the number of hungry people in the world has 
dropped to under 795 million – 200 million fewer than a quarter 
century ago – and the prevalence of under-nourishment has 
fallen by over 10% in the same period, the numbers of people 
across the globe who cannot provide a year-round supply of 
food for their families remains stubbornly high.

tackling this challenge is being hampered by the effects of 
global warming, which is leading to droughts, floods and 
disease, and is hitting hardest the people who are the least 
equipped to deal with it – the rural poor in africa.

the failure of seasonal rains during 2015 in both ethiopia and 
malawi has caused a humanitarian crisis, and in the first half of 
2016 the united nations was coordinating international efforts 
to provide aid to more than 20 million people.

at gorta-self help africa, we believe that improved productivity 
and incomes from farming offer a key path out of poverty for 
millions across africa.

Better and more effective farming methods are being devised 
and deployed to assist small-scale farming households to 
grow more and earn more from their land, and ‘climate-smart’ 
approaches are being rolled out across our projects to assist 
communities cope with new and unpredictable weather 
challenges.

at the same time we are working both locally, regionally and 
internationally to support african farmers to forge new markets 
for their produce, and with each passing year are witnessing 
the exciting emergence and growth of profitable businesses 
that can and will bring lasting positive change to people in the 
countries where we are working.

again, allow me to express my gratitude to you for supporting 
gorta-self help africa in this journey.

With best wishes

tom Kitt
chairman



40

 

Directors & other 
information

Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mr. tom Kitt (chairman) 
mr. seán gaule 
ms. carmel fox 
mr. tom Kirley
mr. pat murphy
mr. Jeremy Woolwich
mr. michael hoevel
mr. paul adams  
mr. david governey (appointed 15 october 2015)
ms. deirdre fox   (resigned 28 may 2015)
mr. Brian Kehoe  (resigned 25 august 2015)
prof. denis i. f. lucey (resigned 25 august 2015)
mr. tom corcoran  (resigned 25 august 2015)
mr. teddy o’mahony  (resigned 25 august 2015)
prof. adrian Wood  (resigned 25 august 2015)
ms. helen Brophy   (resigned 8 september 2015)   
mr. david martin   (resigned 15 october 2015)
ms. paula murray   (resigned 10 december 2015)   
mr. John carroll   (resigned 10 december 2015) 

pascalina mulenga with baby 
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malela village, Zambia. 
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Report of the Directors 
for the year ended 31st december 2015

The directors present 
herewith the reports and 
audited consolidated 
financial statements of the 
charity for the year ended  
31st December 2015.

Objectives and 
activities

Gorta-Self Help Africa is 
a leading international 
development, non-
governmental organisation 
with an expertise in small-
scale farming and growing 
family-farm businesses. 
We work with farmers and 
agricultural businesses in 
Africa to help them grow and 
sell more food, diversify their 
income and their diets, and 
make their livelihoods more 
sustainable and resistant to 
external shocks.

Vision, mission 
and values 

Our vision is an economically 
thriving and resilient rural 
Africa. Our mission is 
to support sustainable 
livelihoods for Africa’s 
smallholder farmers. 

our core values are:
 - equality – people are equal 

in rights and must be treated 
with respect and dignity.

 - innovation – we are 
conscious that finding 
effective solutions requires 
innovative thinking 
combined with a pragmatic 
approach. 

 - learning – we strive for the 
highest quality standards in 
our work and encourage a 
culture of constant learning 
and improvement.

 - accountability – 
accountability and 
transparency are central to 
all our actions and use of 
resources.

Strategic objectives

Our primary strategic 
objectives are to:
 - improve food, nutrition 

and income security for 
smallholder farmers

 - support the establishment 
and growth of inclusive, 
profitable and sustainable 
agri-business

 - support the improvement 
of the policy environment 
for smallholder farmers

Activities 

Our primary client targets 
are poor and vulnerable rural 
communities in sub-Saharan 
Africa, with particular focus 
on Benin, Burkina Faso, 
Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, 
Malawi, Uganda, Tanzania, 
Togo and Zambia. In 
addition, we support key 
initiatives in Rwanda and The 
Gambia.

We support both small projects 
and large programmes. We 
seek to leverage small projects 
into larger programmes to 
maximize the extent of their 
positive impacts. We are 
respectful of the culture, 
needs and wishes of the 
communities we work with 
and proactively seek out their 
views on and participation in 
programme development and 
implementation.

We are committed to the 
principle of empowering 
communities and helping them 
to help themselves, rather than 
simply providing funds. We 
work with local government 
and the business community 
to create sustainable linkages 
that last beyond the life-cycle 
of projects.
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gorta-self help africa employs 
professional development 
staff and agronomists in all 
its countries of operation. We 
believe that indigenous staff 
best understand the context, 
culture and languages of 
people and are best placed to 
lead country programmes. We 
work with and through local 
partners from civil society, the 
public sector and business 
community and provide training 
and support to help them 
develop.

Achievements and 
performance

2015 was the first full year of 
Gorta-Self Help Africa as a 
merged entity following the 
2014 merger. 

gorta’s strong partner network 
and unrestricted funding 
base together with self help 
africa’s institutional funding 
relationships and local country 
teams gelled in the second half 
of 2014 to become one of the 
key international development 
organisations working though 
agriculture in sub-saharan africa. 
due to the presence, greater 
recognition and active registration 
of self help africa country teams 
and their stronger relationships 

with local government and 
institutional donors, the self help 
africa name will continue to be 
used on the ground in africa, the 
uK and usa.

Overseas 
programmes

Our overseas programmes 
went from strength to 
strength in 2015. Summary 
information on the key 
events in our countries of 
operation are set out below.

ETHIOPIA
the strong el niño 
phenomenon has contributed 
to drought in ethiopia 
significantly limiting agricultural 
and pastoral potential, and 
straining local livelihoods. 10.2 
million people are in need of 
emergency food assistance. 
the poor main meher/Kirmet 
rains have affected most 
of our project areas and 
the impact will be felt more 
strongly in 2016 and into 
2017, due to the shortage of 
seed for planting in the next 
season. the introduction 
of improved seed varieties, 
innovative tools and training 
on climate-smart agriculture in 
our project interventions have 
helped to lessen the impact 

of the drought on our farmers 
as evidenced by smaller 
reductions in yields compared 
to non-beneficiaries in our 
project areas. in the oromia 
region, average yields in our 
project areas were over two 
and a half times those seen in 
non-project areas. 

to strengthen farmer 
seed producer and other 
cooperatives, gsha has 
supported the construction 
of six stores, and provided 
different pre-and post- harvest 
farm implements such as 
tractors, seed cleaning 
machines, threshers, etc. on 
a cost-sharing basis. under 
the star project, yields 
of target crops range from 
double to triple the figures 
recorded at the start of 
the programme. our rural 
savings & credit cooperative 
(rusacco) programme 
continues to promote higher 
levels of financial inclusion, 
helping rural families to access 
credit with which they can 
develop enterprise and income-
generating opportunities. We 
have supported a total of 324 
saccos and their 42,138 
members (24,605 of whom are 
women). as an example of the 
scale of our seed multiplication 
and enterprise work, the edget 
farmers seed production and 
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marketing cooperative (espm 
union) is the first community-
based formal seed producer 
cooperative of its kind in 
ethiopia. since 2012, espm 
union has increased its activity 
from meeting 15% of wheat 
seed demand in the snnpr to 
meeting 25% of the demand in 
2015.

our climate-smart agriculture 
programme, undertaken in 
conjunction with sos sahel, 
farm africa and vita covering 
15 districts is working towards 
increasing productivity and 
incomes, enhancing resilience 
of livelihoods and reducing 
agriculture’s contribution to 
climate change. the positive 
outcomes at this early stage 
of the programme are very 
encouraging.

ERITREA
gsha allocated €75,000 
(the first tranche of a total of 
€150,000) to vita this year 
for a two-year potato project 
in eritrea which is piloting a 
system for producing quality 
seed.  in 2015, 28 tonnes of 
seed were imported from irish 
potato marketing limited and 
were distributed to 28 farmers 
for replication. training was 
provided to 128 farmers and 
improved storage capacity for 
new seed was constructed. 

teagasc, the irish agriculture 
and food development 
authority, is providing technical 
support to vita and the eritrean 
ministry of agriculture.  

KENYA
the Kenya programme 
operates on the fringes of arid 
and semi-arid lands where 
the effects of climate change 
are acutely experienced by 
smallholder farmers and their 
families. unreliable rainfall 
patterns and prolonged dry 
spells are common and 2015 
was no exception, resulting 
in low yields in these areas. 
the country experienced 
moderate rainfall in the early 
part of the year and el niño 
rains towards the end of the 
year. heavy rains led to a 
number of problems including 
landslides and mudslides. 
these rains led to destruction 
of food storage granaries and 
the death of cattle and thus 
affected food security in many 
areas and increasing risk 
of vulnerable groups sliding 
into acute malnutrition. the 
rains, however were beneficial 
for many of our smallholder 
farmers in western Kenya. 

the programme continues 
to focus on climate-smart 
agriculture, drought-tolerant 
crops and diversified agriculture 

to ensure smallholder farmers 
become increasingly resilient 
to shocks. We supported 
3,159 dairy farmers in Keringet 
county to bulk and chill their 
milk and market their produce 
through two major dairies. 
total turnover for Keringet 
foods limited exceeded €1.4 
million. another element of the 
programme focuses on value 
addition for cassava, a valuable 
drought-tolerant crop in 
Kenya. Working with a partner 
in homa Bay county, rheal 
solutions, the cassava project 
resulted in increasing farmers’ 
yields by 30%.

MALAWI
2015 was particularly 
difficult due to the el niño 
phenomenon, which led to 
severe droughts in southern 
and northern areas of malawi. 
due to the poor performance 
of the tobacco and tea 
industries, on which the 
economy is heavily dependent, 
the malawian kwacha devalued 
by 60% over the course of 
the year. the cost of living 
had increased accordingly 
with inflation running at a high 
of 25%. With the country 
experiencing a maize deficit, 
the price of maize increased 
significantly.
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Kedija ahmedin, Berssa village, 
near Butagira, ethiopia.
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in order to reduce the 
impact of el niño and poor 
crop performance on the 
communities we are working 
with, we distributed seed for 
pigeon pea and, in partnership 
with the international potato 
centre, sweet potato vines 
for winter cropping. We have 
also increased the number of 
activities targeting affected 
communities to further diversify 
their production and income 
base. Business training to seed 
producer groups in chitipa saw 
farmers achieve profit margins 
of between 50% and 400% 
due to improved grading and 
packaging of their soya and 
bean seed while groundnut 
farmers reported increases in 
income of 46%. 

as part of our work on 
resilience, through the discover 
project, we have promoted 
conservation agriculture 
and in 2015 have witnessed 
the number of participants 
doubling from 1,228 to 2,087 
(1,320 males, 767 female) from 
the previous year. conservation 
agriculture involves soil 
management practices that 
minimise the disruption of the 
soil’s structure, composition 
and natural biodiversity. it has 
proven potential to improve 
crop yields, while improving 
the long-term environmental 

and financial sustainability of 
farming. our programme led 
to a total of 158.8 hectares 
of land being farmed using 
these techniques. While 
the agriculture production 
estimates survey has seen 
an average decrease in 
maize production by 6.5%, 
gsha supported farmers 
implementing conservation 
agriculture practices, saw 
increases in production of 8%. 
We will use this evidence to 
encourage increased uptake 
of these methods across our 
areas of intervention.

We expanded our collaboration 
with human network 
international (hni), airtel 
malawi, ministry of agriculture 
and food security on mobile 
on-demand agriculture 
extension, which has an 
estimated 300,000 registered 
users. the service includes 
information on best practice 
production techniques for crops 
including maize, groundnuts, 
soybeans, dairy production, 
pigeon peas, common bean, 
cassava, chicken, cowpeas as 
well as husbandry techniques 
goats and other livestock. 
gsha is a leading member of 
the national agriculture content 
development committee that 
develops appropriate content 
for dissemination in mobile form 

accompanying this service.

at the 2015 seed traders 
association of malawi (stam) 
annual conference, sha 
malawi received an award 
for our valuable contributions 
towards the development of 
the seed industry in capacity 
building of farmers, in 
production of certified seed, 
seed value chain development, 
stakeholder collaborations and 
policy advocacy.

RWANDA
We worked in partnership with 
the medical missionaries of 
mary on the concluding phase 
of the Kirambi community 
health and development 
programme. this involved 
increasing farmer production 
and co-operative development 
for bulking, storing and 
marketing of produce.

UGANDA
in 2015, uganda experienced 
good rains in the two major 
growing seasons. communities 
where we work experienced 
bumper harvests during the 
first season. however, due 
to more rain and a longer 
rainy period than normal in 
the second season, they 
experienced crop losses due 
to flooding. a pilot project on 
crop insurance saw a pay out 
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to farmers who were able to 
demonstrate that they had 
applied good agronomic 
practices meaning that despite 
poor harvests, they have 
money to reinvest in inputs for 
the next agricultural season. 
the ministry of agriculture 
animal husbandry and 
fisheries has continued without 
an effective extension service 
after the restructuring of the 
national agriculture advisory 
service. this restructuring has 
continued to affect our plant 
clinics’ operations as there are 
few extension staff to carry on 
with the programme. gsha is 
part of an advisory committee 
to the government on what 
a reformed extension service 
should look like. our efforts to 
scale-up plant clinic operations 
in the five districts of Bukedea, 
ngora, Kumi, Kayunga and 
nwoya continued and the 287 
plant clinics sessions enabled 
4,669 smallholder farmers to 
receive advice on diagnosis 
and treatment of a variety of 
crop diseases.

in the usaid-funded 
community connector 
programme, sha continued 
working through 34 agricultural 
service providers. the 
programme seeks to reduce 
poverty and under-nutrition 
through integrated nutrition 

and livelihood interventions 
at community and household 
level. We have implemented six 
livelihood options: beekeeping, 
irish potato seed production, 
onion production, passion fruit 
production, community poultry 
vaccination and goat breeding. 
adoption of newly introduced 
technologies has steadily 
increased reaching a level 
of 85% by the end of 2015. 
a study on the potato value 
chain, commissioned by gsha 
found that a unit increase in 
the acreage of land owned 
by a household, significantly 
reduced the threat of food 
insecurity by 9.5%. access to 
a large piece of land allows 
households to grow a number 
of crops at relatively large scale 
resulting into higher output and 
reduction of risk arising from 
seasonal crop failures. similarly, 
ownership of livestock was 
found to reduce a household’s 
food insecurity level by 29.5%.

in the community economic 
empowerment project, we 
continued to work with our 
partner afard using the 
lead farmer approach to 
improve agricultural extensions 
systems, expand access to 
improved inputs and facilitate 
market access. in our crop 
insurance scheme piloted 
in 2014, the number of 

participant farmers increased 
by over 200% in 2015. this 
demonstrates great potential 
for crop insurance products 
to be a strong programme 
intervention across a number of 
projects in the future. 

TANZANIA
We continued to work 
with our partner sari in 
their programme for the 
enhancement of food security 
for smallholder farmers in 
drought prone areas. this 
involved the establishment 
of irrigation facilities and the 
implementation of different 
soil management options in 
resolving hardpan problems in 
the targeted areas.

WEST AFRICA
in Burkina faso, 2015 was a 
challenging year politically, with 
a transitional government put 
in place to lead the country to 
democratic elections. the year 
was characterised by recurrent 
tensions between the regiment 
de sécurité présidentiel 
(rsp) and the transitional 
government. this culminated 
in a failed coup in september 
by general gilbert diendéré, 
leader of the rsp, less than a 
month before the presidential 
election. the coup lasted for 
two weeks and elections went 
ahead without major incident 
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on the 29th november with 
the new democratically elected 
president sworn in on the 29th 
december. april 2015 saw 
presidential elections being 
held in togo with the re-
election of faure gnassingbé 
for his third consecutive term.

rains across the countries 
covered by the programme 
started and finished much later 
than normal and were relatively 
good, allowing good harvests 
in the areas we work in. the 
harvests of the mains crops 
(sorghum, millet, maize, rice, 
sweet potato, soya, cassava 
and cow peas) started in 
october and continued in 
november. the ministry of 
agriculture in Burkina faso 
communicated a total harvest 
of 4,535,939 tonnes of cereals 
for the 2015-2016 period. 
this represents a fall of 1.49% 
compared to the 2014-2015 
agricultural season. at the 
end of 2015, fifteen out of 
forty-five provinces in Burkina 
faso are considered to be in 
deficit. among those, five are 
targeted by our programme. 
the government planned to 
implement a resilience plan 
and to support counter season 
agriculture as a mechanism to 
address to the deficits. 

in togo, harvests across the 
country are perceived to be 
generally good in spite of the 
late start to the rains which 
didn’t allow farmers to plant 
early millet. in spite of the 
challenges regarding the late 
arrival of the rains in northern 
togo, seed multipliers still 
achieved good results in terms 
of yield as a result of increased 
organisational capacity and 
new skills learned by farmers in 
relation to the cropping cycle. 
yields for sorghum increased 
by 21% in 2015 while soya 
yields increased by 44%.

in our eu-funded Watsan 
project in Burkina faso, the 
promotion of ecosan latrines 
is beginning to show very 
encouraging results. the 
households using the latrines 
have obtained an average 
of 1,000 litres of hygienised 
urine to fertilise their maize in 
their homestead farm used 
as demonstration plots. as 
a direct result, farmers who 
applied the urine directly 
to maize saw an average 
increase in productivity of 
46%, while farmers who used 
a combination of urine and 
compost saw an average 
increase of 150%. We will use 
this evidence to continue the 
promotion of these types of 
latrines across our districts of 

operation and to promote our 
work with the eu. 

in Benin, we are working to 
bring about a 25% increase 
in cashew production yields 
with 2,500 smallholder farmers 
working in this sector. We are 
supporting the strengthening 
of community-based extension 
services and providing 
assistance to farmers in value 
chain development. farmer 
cooperatives are being assisted 
in training in operational and 
financial management and by 
linking them to micro-finance 
institutions. We are partnering 
with private sector processors 
and buyers tolaro global and 
intersnack and with the african 
cashew initiative to support 
famers in quality control and 
ensuring they have a ready 
market for their crops.

our work in ghana involved 
training cashew farmers on 
increasing production of quality 
cashew nuts and empowering 
producers, with a particular 
focus on women, within the 
value chain. this programme 
which will benefit 25,000 
smallholder farmers is being 
carried out in partnership with 
the african cashew alliance 
and funded by the Walmart 
foundation. it will continue to 
run until the end of 2017.
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in the gambia we concluded 
a programme with our 
partner adWac which saw 
the construction of a training 
and resource centre to 
support adWac’s training 
programmes and to enhance 
accommodation for trainees 
attending courses and 
workshops from remote rural 
villages in the north Bank 
region of the country. this is 
creating a valuable impact 
in the provision of training 
in farming and life skills for 
farmers, youth and women for 
sustainable livelihoods.

ZAMBIA
in terms of economic 
performance, 2015 was one 
of the worst years in the last 
decade in Zambia. inflation 
rose to 20% (compared to 
6% between 2011-2013); a 
cumulative effect of poor fiscal 
management and declining 
copper prices in the last five to 
six years. prices of household 
goods doubled, electricity 
tariffs increased by over 70%, 
and prices of some agro-inputs 
such as fertiliser increased by 
over 50%. project budgets tied 
to the Zambian kwacha were 
also affected in terms of their 
ability to procure inputs at the 
level planned. prolonged dry 
spells and drought, particularly 
in the eastern and southern 

regions contributed to reduced 
agriculture production volumes 
for small holder farmers. the 
importance of gsha’s training 
in climate-smart agriculture and 
increasing access to drought 
resistant and early maturing 
seed was particularly evident in 
this context, with farmers who 
practiced the recommended 
methods generally seeing 
better yields. 

We continued to facilitate 
access to saving and loan 
schemes. after three years of 
the improved livelihoods for 
rural communities project, 
3,271 people (80% women) 
have become members of 
accumulated savings and 
credit associations. this 
proved to be instrumental in 
enabling members to increase 
their incomes with almost two 
thirds of members taking a 
business loan to invest in micro 
enterprises such as bakeries, 
small shops and selling second 
hand clothes. the loans ranged 
from €2.50 to €200.

at the midway point of the 
five-year irish aid local 
development programme, 
significant improvements 
in food security are being 
recorded, with 67% of 
beneficiary households now 
having access to sufficient 

food throughout the year, up 
from 57% in 2013. this broad 
ranging programme covers 
a number of interventions 
across 16,000 households in 
northern province. support is 
being provided to local farmer 
producer groups to increase 
production of crops, poultry, 
goats and fish farming. the 
local government structures 
are also being supported in 
identifying community-initiated 
projects and delivering capacity 
building training. 

Advocacy

In 2015 Gorta-Self Help 
Africa engaged in a number 
of policy and advocacy 
initiatives in Ireland, Africa 
and globally. Key highlights 
include:

IN IRELAND:
Work on climate-smart 
agriculture (csa). through 
the chairing of the dochas 
livelihoods, food and 
nutrition security Working 
group we led the sector 
in the development of a 
consultation paper on csa 
which was shared with 
the irish government and 
other stakeholders to inform 
related technical positions. 
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rose mutai is involved in a 
biogas project in semoi village,  
Bomet county, Kenya.
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the paper was launched at 
the institute of international 
and european affairs in may 
2015. We subsequently 
obtained membership in the 
irish aid-led climate change 
and development learning 
platform, and contributed to 
some working documents of 
the global alliance on csa.

IN AFRICA:
influencing sector reform. 
engagements continued in 
all our programme countries 
for policy revision in areas 
of climate-smart agriculture, 
seed sector development, 
biotechnology and biosafety, 
forestry, wetland management, 
and value chain development.

AT INTERNATIONAL LEVEL:
contributions to the formulation 
of the new global agenda 
for development (agenda 
2030 and sustainable 
development goals -sdgs), 
a un-led process. We 
contributed to all stages of the 
negotiations (written and verbal 
submissions), worked closely 
with irish aid ahead of every 
un session they attended 
and participated in the sdgs 
summit which adopted a new 
agenda for global sustainable 
development (agenda 2030). 
during the same week of 
the summit, we took the 

opportunity of being in new 
york to present our resilience 
programming framework 
at the third international 
conference on sustainable 
development (columbia 
university, ny).

Partnerships

We recognise that we 
cannot achieve our vision 
on our own. It can only be 
achieved through developing 
and working in long term 
partnership with local 
and national government, 
local communities, other 
organisations, businesses 
and individuals who have 
complementary skills to our 
own. Meaningful partnership 
is central to our approach.

We seek to collaborate with 
like-minded organisations 
in order to implement our 
work with a greater number 
of communities, add 
complementary interventions 
to partners’ ongoing 
programmes and as a result 
increase opportunities and 
to bring improved food and 
nutrition security to the areas 
in which we work. it 2015 
we worked with a range of 
irish organisations such as 

concern Worldwide, goal, 
vita, value added in africa, 
traidlinks among others, 
both in ireland and in africa 
to this end. towards the end 
of the year we embarked 
on a strategic alliance with 
concern Worldwide which will 
see our organisations work 
more closely in a number of 
areas such as climate-smart 
agriculture, implementing 
gsha models in fragile states, 
development education 
and staff development. We 
anticipate this alliance to be 
of significant benefit to both 
organisations. 

our partnership with farm 
africa in our dfid funded 
programme partnership 
arrangement (ppa) had 
another successful year with 
joint work implemented on 
private sector engagement, 
input subsidies, human 
resources and resilience. our 
joint ppa extension bid was 
successful (for april - dec 
2016). the ppa is scheduled 
to end in december 2016 but 
having established a strong 
foundation, we anticipate 
collaboration between the 
organisations to continue into 
the future.

We raise funds through a wide 
range of sources. We are 
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indebted to irish aid, the uK 
department for international 
development, terrafina micro-
finance and the irish league 
of credit unions foundation, 
a range of other trusts and 
foundations and the public for 
their generosity in supporting 
our work. the Big lottery 
fund and Jersey overseas aid 
commission are major funders 
of the work of self help africa 
uK and their support over the 
years has been invaluable.

the network of volunteers 
across our retail and 
community fundraising 
infrastructure has been a 
source of great strength and 
resilience over the years – this 
is an infrastructure we would 
like to maintain and develop in 
the years ahead. 

Development 
Education 

In 2015, Gorta-Self Help 
Africa’s Development 
Education programme 
continued to focus on the 
core elements of school 
workshops; community 
development education 
engagement; special projects 
and networks & awareness. 

We have achieved more 
in-depth engagement with 
schools in our programme by 
delivering a suite of themed 
workshops to each school, 
on topics central to our work 
including: ‘agriculture and 
poverty eradication,’ ‘coping 
with climate change,’ ‘gender 
equality’ and ‘the role of 
ethical trade in ending poverty’ 
with presentations by technical 
members of our staff to bring 
learning generated from our 
country programmes. over 
the last four years we have 
extended the scope and the 
reach of our development 
education programme by 
more than doubling the 
number of schools receiving 
workshops. in 2015, there 
were approximately 150 school 
visits delivering an estimated 
450 workshops to upwards 
of 8,000 students. the 
programme is delivered both 
by two dedicated staff within 
the organisation, and a network 
of six outreach workshop 
facilitators based in various 
locations around the country. 

on community engagement 
we are piloting a programme 
of community-based 
development education 
engagement. this pilot is 
being undertaken in the 
north-west and is carried out 

in collaboration with donegal 
vec and with the inishowen 
community development 
partnership. fetac level 
4 and 6 development 
education modules have 
been delivered to community 
and organisational leaders. 
We are also working closely 
on development education 
awareness training with 
donegal county council in a 
model that we plan to replicate 
with other county councils 
throughout the country.

in regard to special projects, 
we are sponsors of the Bt 
science for development 
award at the Bt young 
scientist exhibition. this 
work is carried out in 
conjunction with World Wise 
global schools. the award 
acknowledges school projects 
that seek to address challenges 
affecting communities we 
work with in our country 
programmes. We also organise 
school study visits to africa 
each year. recent visits have 
taken upwards of 30 students 
and teachers on week-long 
visits to our projects in West 
africa, ethiopia and uganda. 
on their return, participating 
students and teachers give 
presentations in their schools 
and communities with several 
students going on to study 
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development courses in college 
on leaving school. 
We are also involved in a 
number of development 
education networks in 
ireland. these include 
contributions and support to 
the development education.ie 
online resource, membership 
of idea, the irish development 
education association, and 
inishowen development 
partnership. at a schools level 
we also work closely with a 
number of other development 
education providers to support 
the delivery of workshops 
amongst schools networks 
during the school year, 
collaborating with one World 
centres and with trócaire and 
concern Worldwide on these 
presentations. We continue to 
engage with student teachers 
during themed development 
education weeks in national 
university ireland, maynooth, 
national university of ireland 
galway and dublin city 
university. 

the irish aid-funded WorldWise 
global schools (WWgs) 
programme, which gorta-
self help africa manages 
as part of a consortium with 
concern Worldwide and the 
city of dublin education & 
training Board curriculum 
development unit, had another 

successful year in 2015. the 
programme has, to date, 
disbursed 295 grant awards 
(to schools, school networks 
and development education 
ngos) to a cumulative value 
of €1,745,997. a further cycle 
of grant disbursements is 
scheduled for the summer of 
2016, following the most recent 
grant call, under which WWgs 
received its highest number of 
funding applications to date.

WWgs event highlights in 2015 
included the second WWgs 
annual conference, which was 
held in the aviva stadium in 
april and focused thematically 
on the World We Want, and 
catered to 331 participants, 
including 66 teachers. WWgs 
also hosted, later in the year, 
a highly successful 2-day 
teacher training residential in 
october, which attracted 100 
teachers.

the global passport award 
continued into its second 
year of operation as a 
quality standard for schools’ 
development education. it 
was awarded to 64 schools 
this year (almost double the 
number of awards granted 
in the previous year), and 
continues to be used as a 
key planning and audit tool in 
school settings. 

Partner Africa

The Gorta-Self Help Africa 
subsidiary, Partner Africa 
is an international not-for-
profit social enterprise 
and a pioneer in the field 
of ethical and socially 
responsible business 
practice that delivers high 
quality and innovative ethical 
trade services and trade 
development projects across 
Africa and the Near East. 

during 2015, while activity 
was at a similar level to 2014, 
partner africa continued 
progress in improving structures 
and systems to drive growth 
for the future. it continued 
to maximise its impact on 
improving the livelihoods of 
workers and producers in the 
african supply chain through its 
ethical trade and audit services 
and increasing its number of 
trade development projects. its 
work in engaging with private 
sector enterprises is indicative 
of the direction in which the 
gorta-self help africa group is 
moving to improve the lives of 
african farmers.
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TruTrade

In 2015, Gorta-Self Help 
Africa supported Kenya 
based social enterprise 
TruTrade. TruTrade’s aim is 
to unlock the potential of 
African agribusiness to give 
smallholder farmers a fairer 
share of the value of their 
produce. 

trutrade provides a secure 
trading and payment service 
for managing the aggregation 
of produce. this service links 
small scale farmers to buyers 
with controls that enforce 
quality and transparency and 
embeds trust along the value 
chain. the result is efficient and 
reliable sourcing for buyers, 
business opportunities in rural 
communities and a better deal 
for farmers. in 2016, gsha 
will take an equity stake in 
this enterprise to demonstrate 
its commitment to trutrade’s 
success.

Financial review

The financial results are 
set out in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial 
Activities on page 68. The 
board are happy that the 

organisation is in a strong 
financial position at the 
end of 2015 and that the 
objectives set out in the 
2011-2015 Strategic Plan 
have been achieved.

unrestricted reserves at 31st 
december 2015 stand at 
€9.03m and are in accordance 
with the reserve policy of 
maintaining reserves of at 
least the equivalent of 12 
months recurring unrestricted 
expenditure. a relatively 
conservative policy has 
been adopted in light of the 
current economic climate, 
however the audit finance 
and risk committee review 
the appropriateness of the 
policy on an annual basis. Key 
financial indicators for the year 
are:

 - total unrestricted income 
received during the year 
ended 31st december 
2015 amounted to €9.05m.

 - total voluntary funds raised 
in ireland during 2015 
amounted to €4.5m and 
represents 25% of total 
consolidated income.

 - €3.21 was raised for every 
€1 spent on fundraising.

overall income levels for the 
year totalled €18.2 million, 
an increase of 10% on 2014. 

there was a net decrease in 
funds of €2,020,000 in the year 
which is allocated €1,235,000 
decrease in unrestricted funds 
and €785,000 decrease in 
restricted funds. the total 
unrestricted funds balance 
of €9.03 million at year end 
reflects a strong financial 
position for the organisation.
 

Going concern

The directors have a 
reasonable expectation that 
the organisation has adequate 
resources to continue in 
operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Thus they 
continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the 
annual financial statements. 
Further details regarding the 
adoption of the going concern 
basis can be found in note 1 to 
the financial statements.

Structure, 
governance and 
management

 
STRUCTURE
gorta (trading as gorta-self 
help africa) is the parent 
company of the group. 
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self help africa has been a 
dormant company since the 
merger of gorta and self 
help africa in 2014 and is 
a subsidiary of gorta. Both 
gorta and self help africa 
are companies limited by 
guarantee and registered 
in ireland. gorta is the sole 
member of gorta uK and self 
help africa uK and self help 
africa is the sole member of 
partner africa. gorta uK, self 
help africa uK and partner 
africa are independent charities 
and companies limited by 
guarantee, registered in the 
united Kingdom.

each of the group companies 
is a registered charity in its 
own jurisdiction. gorta uK is 
a registered charity with the 
office of the scottish charity 
regulatory under registration 
number sc 272970. self help 
africa uK is a registered charity 
with the charity commission 
for england and Wales under 
registration number 298830. 
partner africa is a registered 
charity with the charity 
commission for england 
and Wales under registration 
number 1144815. gorta-
self help africa’s charitable 
activities in the developing 
world are carried out in 
association with each of the 
group companies. gorta-self 

help africa was established 
as a legal charitable entity in 
the republic of ireland in 1965 
and its governing document is 
the memorandum and articles 
of association (most recently 
amended in July 2014).

GOVERNANCE
the board is committed 
to maintaining the highest 
standards of corporate 
governance and has 
determined that gorta-self 
help africa must comply with 
the basic principles outlined 
in the “irish development 
ngos code of corporate 
governance” (as produced 
by the corporate governance 
association of ireland; 
partnered with dóchas). 
over the course of the year, 
the organisation has put 
in place the systems and 
structures to ensure that we 
are fully compliant with this 
code. as part of the pursuit 
of the highest standards in 
governance, an effective board 
and a competent executive 
management team head 
the organisation. there is a 
clear distinction between the 
roles of the board and the 
management team to which 
day-to-day management is 
delegated. the management 
team prepares matters for 
consideration and approval by 

the board e.g. annual budgets, 
policy papers. the board then 
monitors their implementation. 

on areas such as strategic 
planning, there is board 
involvement at all stages 
of preparation and ultimate 
approval is the responsibility of 
the board. 

the board met on twelve 
occasions in 2015 (eleven in 
2014). the board membership 
is set out on page 40.

new directors receive 
background and explanatory 
materials covering the nature 
and purpose of gorta-self 
help africa to enable them 
to familiarise themselves with 
their duties and responsibilities, 
the gorta-self help africa 
governance framework and its 
work overseas. any relevant 
training requirements of 
directors are facilitated by the 
organisation.
as a signatory to the dóchas 
code of conduct on images 
and messages, gorta-self 
help africa reaffirms its 
commitment to best practice in 
the communication of images 
and messages in all our public 
policy statements.

as a signatory to the ictrg 
guiding principles for 
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fundraising, gorta-self help 
africa confirms its commitment 
to its code of practice for 
fundraising in all forms. 

gorta-self help africa is 
grateful for the work of 
many people in making 
the achievements of the 
past year possible. our 
volunteers, partners, donors, 
boards of directors, trustees, 
subcommittees and members 
have all played valuable and 
important roles, and we are 
grateful to each for their 
support and commitment. 
the public have been very 
generous in providing gifts in 
kind, particularly donations of 
items for resale through our 
network of charity shops in 
ireland.

Board  
sub-committees

 
AUDIT, FINANCE AND RISK 
COMMITTEE
the function of the audit, 
finance and risk committee 
is to review internal financial 
controls, treasury and risk 
management processes. it 
liaises with external auditors 
and reports directly to the 
Board. it meets on a regular 

basis to monitor and review 
the financial performance 
of the organisation, internal 
and external audit findings, 
management information 
systems and internal 
control systems. it provides 
independent oversight of the 
annual budgets, management 
and statutory accounts and 
makes recommendations to 
the Board where relevant. the 
members of the committee in 
2015 were david governey 
(current chair), paula murray, 
James Wyse, colm dennehy, 
michael Butler and chris 
mcdonald. david martin, the 
former chair of the committee, 
stepped down from the 
committee in october giving 
over eight years of valuable 
service. the committee met 
three times in 2015 (five times 
in 2014).

PROGRAMME REVIEW 
COMMITTEE 
this committee oversees 
the quality and depth of 
programme performance 
on behalf of the board and 
provides advisory support 
for management on the 
development and delivery of 
programmes. in particular, it 
has the following delegated 
responsibilities:
 - ensure that all programming 

is delivered in line with 

organizational strategy, 
policy and governance 
standards.

 - ensure that an effective 
programmes approval 
process is in place and 
applied.

 - ensure that an effective 
results based management 
system is in place and 
applied.

 - support the development 
of country strategy papers, 
programme policies and 
programme approaches.

the members of the committee 
are pat murphy (current chair), 
Bob sherriff, Joe phelan, anne 
fitzgerald, martin flatley, prof 
adrian Wood, prof michael 
mortimore, val ponder and 
dr James copestake. John 
geraghty and fiona meehan 
also served on this committee 
in 2015. the committee met 
four times in 2015 (six times in 
2014).

FUNDRAISING, 
COMMUNICATIONS AND 
ADVOCACY COMMITTEE
this committee has 
responsibility for reviewing 
and advising the board on 
the three key functions of 
fundraising, communications 
and advocacy. its function is 
to ensure these functions are 
carried out in accordance with 
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board approved policies and 
that they are consistent with 
the agreed strategic direction 
of the organisation as set out in 
the strategic plan.

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE
the function of the 
remuneration committee is 
to devise and recommend 
remuneration policy to the 
board for all gorta-self help 
africa staff. 

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
the function of the recently 
established nominations 
committee is to facilitate 
the ongoing process of 
board renewal, making 
recommendations to the 
board and membership 
having identified skills gaps 
and appropriate and willing 
members who would have the 
potential to fill such gaps. all 
new directors to be co-opted 
to the board must go before 
the membership for election at 
the following agm. 

Risk management 
and internal controls

The directors have 
responsibility for, and are 
aware of the risks associated 

with the operating activities 
of Gorta-Self Help Africa. 
They are confident that 
adequate systems of internal 
control are in place and 
that these controls provide 
reasonable assurance 
against such risks. 

management prepares a risk 
register which is updated 
regularly and subject to 
detailed half-yearly reviews 
by the board. the directors 
regularly review and adopt 
policies and procedures 
that are consistent with 
best practice and monitor 
the implementation of these 
policies through the audit, 
finance and risk committee. 
during the year new policies 
on reserves and treasury 
management were reviewed by 
the committee and approved 
by the board.
 
the internal control systems 
aim to ensure compliance 
with laws and policies, ensure 
efficient and effective use 
of gorta-self help africa’s 
resources, safeguard gorta-
self help africa’s assets 
and maintain the integrity of 
financial information produced. 

financial information is subject 
to detailed review at director 
level allowing for continuous 

monitoring of gorta-self help 
africa’s operations and financial 
status. each of our field offices 
is subject to an annual audit by 
independent external auditors, 
in addition to periodic internal 
audit review.

Management and 
staff

We appreciate and 
acknowledge the role played 
by Gorta-Self Help Africa’s 
staff, based in Ireland, 
the UK and in Africa. The 
ongoing growth of the 
organisation’s work is due 
to their dedication and 
commitment. 

We are committed to the 
development of our staff 
and will continue to allocate 
resources annually towards a 
comprehensive training and 
development programme. 
gorta-self help africa is an 
equal opportunities employer 
and we recognise the need to 
ensure we have high calibre 
staff and volunteers to achieve 
our vision and objectives.

gorta-self help africa is 
committed to managing 
and conducting its work 
activities in such a way as 
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to ensure - so far as is 
reasonably practicable - the 
safety, health and welfare 
at work of its employees 
and volunteers. the safety 
statement, in accordance 
with section 20 of the safety, 
health and Welfare at Work 
act 2005, outlines the policy 
of gorta-self help africa in 
relation to the management 
of health, safety and welfare. 
gorta-self help africa 
management continuously 
monitors compliance in line 
with legislative requirements.

Future 
developments

A new strategic plan 
covering the period 2016 
to 2020 has been prepared 
and was approved by the 
board in December 2015. 
The plan is the result of a 
detailed review of our past 
and ongoing activities, the 
needs of the communities 
in which we work, 
documentation of lessons 
learned and mapping out 

of or operations for the 
years ahead to ensure 
we allocate the charity’s 
resources to best effect.  
the main strategic direction 
set out in the plan is to 
continue the work we are 
doing with smallholder 
farmers in existing countries 
of operation but building in 
a market based approach 
with a focus on co-operative 
and enterprise development. 
in addition, we intend to 
continue to implement our 
traditional programme model 
and expand it to more fragile 
states and poorer areas of 
our existing countries of 
operation. 

Events since the 
financial year end

There have been no 
significant events effecting 
the group since the financial 
year end. 

Political 
contributions

The group did not make 
any political contributions 
in the financial year (2014 
- €nil).  
 

Accounting records

The measures that the 
directors have taken 
to secure compliance 
with the requirements of 
sections 281 to 285 of 
the Companies Act 2014 
with regard to the keeping 
of accounting records, 
are the employment of 
appropriately qualified 
accounting personnel 
and the maintenance of 
computerised accounting 
systems. The company’s 
accounting records 
are maintained at the 
company’s registered 
office at Kingsbridge 
House, 17-22 Parkgate 
Street, Dublin 8.
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Directors and Secretary
 

The directors and secretary, who served at any time 
during the financial year except as noted, were as 
follows: 
 
Directors: 
 
mr. tom Kitt (chairman)
mr. seán gaule 
ms. carmel fox 
mr. tom Kirley
mr. pat murphy
mr. Jeremy Woolwich
mr. michael hoevel
mr. paul adams  
mr. david governey  (appointed 15 october 2015)
ms. deirdre fox  (resigned 28 may 2015)
mr. Brian Kehoe  (resigned 25 august 2015)
prof. denis i. f. lucey (resigned 25 august 2015)
mr. tom corcoran  (resigned 25 august 2015)
mr. teddy o’mahony  (resigned 25 august 2015)
prof. adrian Wood  (resigned 25 august 2015)
ms. helen Brophy   (resigned 8 september 2015) 
mr. david martin  (resigned 15 october 2015)
ms. paula murray  (resigned 10 december 2015) 
mr. John carroll  (resigned 10 december 2015)

Secretary: mr. malachy cardiff

Report of the Directors 
for the year ended 31st december 2015 (contd.)

Auditors

The auditors, Deloitte, Chartered 
Accountants and Statutory 
Audit Firm, continue in office in 
accordance with Section 383(2) of 
the Companies Act 2014. 
 

Approved by the directors 
and signed on their behalf by:

Tom Kitt 
director

David Governey
director

date: 23 may 2016



62

statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities

The directors are responsible 
for preparing the directors’ 
report and the financial 
statements in accordance 
with the Companies Act 
2014 and the applicable 
regulations.

irish company law requires 
the directors to prepare 
financial statements for each 
financial year. under the law, 
the directors have elected 
to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance 
with frs 102 the financial 
reporting standard applicable 
in the uK and republic of 
ireland (“relevant financial 
reporting framework”). under 
company law, the directors 
must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities and financial position 
of the company as at the 
financial year end date and 
of the profit or loss of the 
company for the financial year 

and otherwise comply with the 
companies act 2014.

in preparing those financial 
statements, the directors are 
required to:

 - select suitable accounting 
policies for the parent 
company and the group 
financial statements 
and then apply them 
consistently; 

 - make judgements 
and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;  

 - state whether the financial 
statements have been 
prepared in accordance 
with the applicable 
accounting standards, 
identify those standards, 
and note the effect and the 
reasons for any material 
departure from those 
standards; and 

 - prepare the financial 
statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is 

inappropriate to presume 
that the company will 
continue in business.

the directors are responsible 
for ensuring that the company 
keeps or causes to be kept 
adequate accounting records 
which correctly explain and 
record the transactions of the 
company, enable at any time 
the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit or loss of 
the company to be determined 
with reasonable accuracy, 
enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements and 
directors’ report comply with 
the companies act 2014 and 
enable the financial statements 
to be audited. they are also 
responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the company and 
hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. the directors 
are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of 
the corporate and financial 
information included on the 
company’s website.
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independent Auditors’ Report 
to the members of gorta t/a gorta-self help africa

We have audited the financial 
statements of Gorta for the 
year ended 31 December 
2015 which comprise the 
Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Activities, the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet, 
the Company Balance Sheet, 
the Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement and the related 
notes 1 to 37. The relevant 
financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their 
preparation is the Companies 
Act 2014 and FRS 102 
The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the 
UK and Republic of Ireland 
(“relevant financial reporting 
framework”).

this report is made solely to 
the company’s members, as 
a body, in accordance with 
section 391 of the companies 
act 2014. our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we 
might state to the company’s 
members those matters we 
are required to state to them 
in an auditors’ report and 
for no other purpose. to the 
fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other 
than the company and the 
company’s members as a 

body, for our audit work, for 
this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed.

Respective 
responsibilities 
of directors and 
auditors

As explained more fully in the 
Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement, the directors 
are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial 
statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view and otherwise 
comply with the Companies 
Act 2014. Our responsibility 
is to audit and express an 
opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2014 
and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us 
to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit 
of the financial 
statements

an audit involves obtaining 

evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud 
or error. this includes an 
assessment of: whether 
the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the company’s 
circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by 
the directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial 
statements. in addition, we 
read all the financial and non-
financial information in the 
reports and consolidated 
financial statements for 
the financial year ended 31 
december 2015 to identify 
material inconsistencies 
with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any 
information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, 
or materially inconsistent with, 
the knowledge acquired by 
us in the course of performing 
the audit. if we become 
aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider 
the implications for our report.
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independent Auditors’ Report 
to the members of gorta t/a gorta-self help africa (contd.)

Opinion on financial 
statements

In our opinion, the financial 
statements:
 
 - give a true and fair view of 

the assets, liabilities and 
financial position of the 
group and of the company 
as at 31st december 2015 
and of the group’s net 
incoming resources for the 
financial year then ended; 
and

 - have been properly 
prepared in accordance 
with the relevant financial 
reporting framework 
and, in particular, with 
the requirements of the 
companies act 2014.

Matters on which we 
are required to report 
by the Companies 
Act 2014

 - We have obtained all 
the information and 
explanations which we 
consider necessary for the 
purposes of our audit.

 - in our opinion the 
accounting records of the 
company were sufficient 

to permit the financial 
statements to be readily 
and properly audited.

 - the financial statements 
are in agreement with the 
accounting records.

 - in our opinion the 
information given in 
the directors’ report is 
consistent with the financial 
statements.

Matters on which we 
are required to report 
by exception

We have nothing to report 
in respect of the provisions 
in the Companies Act 
2014 which require us 
to report to you if, in our 
opinion, the disclosures of 
directors’ remuneration and 
transactions specified by law 
are not made. 

Marguarita Martin
for and on behalf of deloitte
chartered accountants and 
statutory audit firm
dublin

date: 3rd June 2016
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2015 in Figures
our donors in 2015

16%
ETHIOPIA

24%
ZAMBIA

15%
UGANDA

14%
WEST AFRICA

11%
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9%
KENYA

9%
ETHICAL

TRADE/ENTERPRISE
DEVELOPMENT

2%
ERITREA,
RWANDA,
TANZANIA

our programme spend in 2015

our charitable expenditure in 2015

general public 32.5%

irish aid 29.1%

dfid 17.3%

usaid (via partners) 5.0%

partner africa 3.2%

Jersey overseas aid 2.6%

Big lottery fund 2.0%

cnfa ethiopia 1.3%

african cashew alliance 0.8%

other 6.2%

0 30
%

0 30
%

12%
RAISING FUNDS

1%
GOVERNANCE

87%
PROGRAMMES
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consolidated statement of financial activities 
for the year ended 31st december 2015

2015 
Restricted

Funds

2015 
Unrestricted

Funds
2015  
Total

2014 
restricted

funds

2014 
unrestricted

funds
2014  
total

Notes € € € € € €

INCOME FROM

donations  
and legacies 3 132,548 4,144,095 4,276,643 294,134 4,055,674 4,349,808

charitable activities 4 8,893,029 2,796,269 11,689,298 7,983,369 2,109,734 10,093,103

retail income 9 - 910,957 910,957 - 852,365 852,365

other trading 
activities 5 116,295 1,120,897 1,237,192 - 1,014,191 1,014,191

other 6 - 80,939 80,939 183,735 183,735

total 9,141,872 9,053,157 18,195,029 8,277,503 8,215,699 16,493,202

EXPENDITURE ON

charitable activities 7 9,950,762 7,897,849 17,848,611 8,744,151 4,976,580 13,720,731

raising funds - retail 9 - 896,014 896,014 - 852,659 852,659

raising funds - other 8 - 1,568,034 1,568,034 -   1,491,276 1,491,276

Total 9,950,762 10,361,897 20,312,659 8,744,151 7,320,515 16,064,666

Net (expenditure) / 
income 11 (808,890) (1,308,740) (2,117,630) (466,648) 895,184 428,536

other recognised 
gains 12 23,318 62,023 85,341 20,204 60,708 80,912

taxation 13 - 11,741 11,741 - 11,766 11,766

Net movement in 
funds 32 (785,572) (1,234,976) (2,020,548)  (446,444) 967,658 521,214

RECONCILIATION 
OF FUNDS
total funds brought 
forward 32 1,418,906 10,262,748 11,681,654 1,865,350 9,295,090 11,160,440

Total funds carried 
forward 32 633,334 9,027,772 9,661,106 1,418,906 10,262,748 11,681,654

there are no other recognised gains or losses other than those listed above and the net expenditure for the 

financial year. all income and expenditure derives from continuing activities. 
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consolidated Balance sheet as at 31st december 2015

Total
2015

total
2014

Notes € €
Fixed Assets
tangible assets 17 152,395 224,503
investments 18 - 42,855
goodwill 19 - 43,851

152,395 311,209

Current Assets
short term investments 20 147,997 117,635
cash at bank and in hand 21 9,203,186 11,532,232
debtors 22 1,435,913 1,232,041
stocks 3,518 2,811

10,790,614 12,884,719

Creditors: amounts due within one financial year 23 (1,111,248) (1,245,600)

Net current assets 9,679,366 11,639,119
total assets less current liabilities 9,831,761 11,950,328

Creditors: amounts falling due after one financial year 24 (164,913) (204,492)

TOTAL NET ASSETS 9,666,848 11,745,836

FUNDS OF THE CHARITY

accumulated funds – restricted 32 633,334 1,418,906
accumulated funds – unrestricted 32 9,027,772 10,262,748
acquisition funding reserve 33 - 56,210
deferred capital grants 34 5,742 7,972

                                      
9,666,848 11,745,836

the financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 26 may 2016 and 

signed on its behalf by:

_______________________  ______________________

Tom Kitt    David Governey

director   director
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company Balance sheet as at 31st december 2015

Total
2015

total
2014

Notes € €
Fixed Assets
tangible assets 17 120,968 193,979

Current Assets
short term investments 20 147,997 117,635
cash in bank and at hand 21 8,320,9254 10,283,795
debtors 22 933,852 1,259,623

9,402,774 11,661,053

Creditors: amounts falling due within one financial year 23 (860,463) (952,624)

Net Current Assets 8,542,311 10,708,429

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 8,663,279 10,902,408

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year 24 (164,913) (204,492)

TOTAL NET ASSETS 8,498,366 10,697,916

FUNDS OF THE CHARITY
accumulated funds - restricted 32 355,342 1,066,243
accumulated funds - unrestricted 32 8,137,282 9,631,673
deferred capital grants 34 5,742 -

8,498,366 10,697,916

the financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 26th may 2016 and 

signed on its behalf by:

_______________________  ______________________

Tom Kitt    David Governey

director   director
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consolidated cash flow statement 
for the year ended 31st december 2015

Total
2015

total
2014

Notes € €
Cash flows from charitable activities
net cash used in charitable activities 30 (2,400,754) (2,841,178)

Cash provided by investing activities
interest received 6 80,939 183,735
proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets - 684
purchase of tangible assets 17 (56,183) (133,794)

proceeds on disposal of financial investments 46,952 -

Net cash provided by investing activities 71,708 50,625

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting year 30 (2,329,046) (2,790,553)

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting year 11,532,232 14,322,785

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting year 9,203,186 11,532,232

reconciliation to cash at bank and in hand: - -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 9,203,186 11,532,232



Basis of Preparation

The principal accounting 
policies are summarised 
below. They have all 
been applied consistently 
throughout the financial year 
and to the preceding year.  
 
gorta (t/a gorta-self 
help africa) is a company 
incorporated in ireland under 
the companies act 2014. 
the address of the registered 
office is first floor, Kingsbridge 
house, 17-22 parkgate street, 
dublin 8. the nature of the 
company’s operations and its 
principal activities are set out 
in the report of the trustees on 
pages 42 to 61.  

i. in accordance with section 
1180(8) of the companies 
act, 2014, the company is 
exempt from including the 
word “limited” in its name. 
the company is limited by 
guarantee and has no share 
capital.

ii. in prior financial years, 
companies not trading for 
gain for the members were 
not within the scope of 
company law requirements 
with regard to formats 
and content of financial 

statements which applied 
to not-for-profit companies, 
thus permitting the adoption 
of a format appropriate to 
a charity. accordingly, the 
organisation adopted and 
reported its performance 
in accordance with 
the format provided 
for in the statement of 
recommended practice 
(sorp) “accounting and 
reporting by charities” 
as published by the 
charity commission for 
england and Wales. in 
particular gorta reports 
its performance for the 
financial year in the format 
of the sorp’s statement of 
financial activities (sofa). 
 
the charity commission 
for england and Wales, 
is recognised by the uK 
accounting standards 
Board (asB) as the 
appropriate body to issue 
sorps for the charity 
sector in the uK, and the 
sorp has heretofore been 
recognised as best practice 
for financial reporting by 
charities in ireland. 
 
the companies act 2014 
became effective in law on 
1 June 2015 and from that 
date applies the format 

and content of financial 
statements requirements 
appropriate for a company 
trading for the profit of its 
members to a company 
that is a not-for-profit 
organisation such as gorta. 
this would require gorta for 
example, to present a profit 
and loss account and report 
on items such as turnover, 
cost of sales, profit or loss 
on ordinary activities before 
taxation, along with related 
notes. in the view of the 
directors this is neither an 
appropriate presentation 
nor terminology for a not-
for-profit organisation. 
 
in order to provide 
information relevant 
to understanding the 
stewardship of the directors 
and the performance and 
financial position of the 
charity, gorta has prepared 
its financial statements 
in accordance with the 
formats provided for in the 
sorp consistent with the 
prior financial year.

 
the financial statements have 
been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, 
modified to include certain 
items at fair value, and in 
accordance with the statement 
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of recommended practice 
(sorp 2015) “accounting and 
reporting by charities”, in 
accordance with the financial 
reporting standard applicable 
in the uK and republic of 
ireland (frs 102), issued 
by the financial reporting 
council, and promulgated for 
use in ireland by the institute of 
chartered accountants ireland, 
effective 1st January 2015 and 
the companies act 2014. no 
material adjustments were 
required on adoption of frs 
102 in the current year. for 
more information see note 37. 
 
the functional currency of 
gorta is considered to be euro 
because that is the currency 
of the primary economic 
environment in which the 
company operates. 

Principles of 
Consolidation

the consolidated financial 
statements include the financial 
statements of the company 
and its subsidiary undertakings, 
self help africa, self help 
africa (uK), partner africa and 
gorta uK. the activities of all 
five companies are mutually 
interdependent.  
 

Going Concern

the organisation’s forecasts 
and projections, taking account 
of reasonable possible changes 
in performance, show that the 
organisation will be able to 
operate within the level of its 
current cash and investment 
resources. the Board have a 
reasonable expectation that 
the organisation has adequate 
resources to continue in 
operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. thus they 
continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting in 
preparing the annual financial 
statements.

Income

i. income from voluntary 
donations is recognised 
when received. as with 
many similar charitable 
organisations, independent 
groups from time to time 
organise fundraising 
activities and may operate 
bank accounts in the name 
of gorta-self help africa. 
however, as amounts 
collected in this way are 
outside the control of the 
company, they are not 

included in the financial 
statements until received by 
gorta-self help africa. 

ii. proceeds from the sale 
of donated goods are 
recognised in the financial 
statements in the period 
in which they are realised. 
volunteer time is not 
included in the financial 
statements 

iii. grants from the 
government and other 
agencies have been 
included as income from 
activities in furtherance 
of the charity’s objects 
and accounted for on a 
receivable basis. 

iv. legacies are included 
when the amount is to be 
received is probably and 
can be measured with 
certainty.  

v. interest income is 
recognised on a receivable 
basis.  

vi. revenue refunds in respect 
of tax relief on voluntary 
donations are recognised 
on a receivable basis in 
so far as the receivable 
can be established with 
a reasonable amount of 
accuracy. 

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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i. other income reflects 
income earned by partner 
africa in respect of ethical 
trade related assignments 
and is recognised on a 
receivable basis. such 
income is deferred 
until such time as the 
assignment occurs and 
the related expenditure is 
incurred.

Expenditure

Charitable activities 
comprises expenditure 
incurred by the programme 
countries for the costs of the 
development programmes 
as well as costs incurred at 
headquarters that are directly 
related to the implementation 
of programmes. Expenditure 
is recognised in the period to 
which it relates. Expenditure 
incurred but unpaid at 
the balance sheet date is 
included in accruals and 
other creditors. 

expenditure on raising funds 
comprise all expenditure 
incurred by gorta-self help 
africa on raising funds for 
the organisation’s charitable 
activities. 

Gifts in Kind

items donated for resale are 
included in shop income when 
sold and no value is placed 
on stock at the year end. 
any other gifts in kind which 
are deemed non-material are 
not included in the financial 
statements. gifts in kind that 
can be valued with reasonable 
confidence will be included in 
the financial statements.  
 

Fixed Assets and 
Depreciation of 
Tangible Fixed Assets

tangible fixed assets are stated 
at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. depreciation of 
fixed assets is provided on 
cost in equal installments over 
the estimated useful lives of 
the assets. the annual rates of 
depreciation are as follows:

shop fittings:                      20%

office furniture and 
computer equipment:      33.3%

motor vehicles:               33.3%

 
 

 
Funds Accounting

Funds held by the charity are:

Unrestricted funds - these 
are funds which can be used in 
accordance with the charitable 
objects at the discretion of the 
directors.

Designated funds - these 
are funds which have been set 
aside for particular purposes 
by the company itself, in 
furtherance of the company’s 
charitable objects. 

Restricted funds - these are 
funds that can only be used for 
particular restricted purposes 
within the objects of the 
charity. restrictions arise when 
specified by the donor or when 
funds are raised for particular 
restricted purposes.

further explanation of the 
nature and purpose of each 
fund is included in the notes to 
the financial statements.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are recognised 
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when the charitable 
company becomes a 
party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
Financial liabilities are 
classified according to the 
substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into.

i. Financial assets & liabilities  
all financial assets and 
liabilities are initially 
measured at transaction 
price (including transaction 
costs), unless the 
arrangement constitutes a 
financing transaction. if an 
arrangement constitutes 
a finance transaction, the 
financial asset or financial 
liability is measured at the 
present value of the future 
payments discounted at a 
market rate of interest for a 
similar debt instrument. 
 
financial assets are 
derecognised when and 
only when a) the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from 
the financial asset expire or 
are settled, b) the charitable 
company transfers to 
another party substantially 
all of the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial 
asset, or c) the charitable 
company, despite having 
retained some significant 

risks and rewards of 
ownership, has transferred 
control of the asset to 
another party and the other 
party has the practical 
ability to sell the asset in its 
entirety to an unrelated third 
party and is able to exercise 
that ability unilaterally and 
without needing to impose 
additional restrictions on the 
transfer. 
 
financial liabilities are 
derecognised only when 
the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 
Balances that are classified 
as payable or receivable 
within one year on initial 
recognition are measured 
at the undiscounted 
amount of the cash or other 
consideration expected to 
be paid or received, net of 
impairment.

Capital Grants

Capital grants are transferred 
to a capital account in the 
year of receipt and amortised 
to the statement of financial 
activities at the same rates 
as the depreciation of the 
assets to which they apply. 

Operating Leases

Rentals applicable to 
operating leases where 
substantially all the benefits 
and risks of ownership 
remain with the lessor are 
charged to the Statement of 
Financial Activities (SOFA). 
 

Reserves Policy

In order to secure the long 
term viability of Gorta-Self 
Help Africa and to maintain 
the smooth operation of the 
organisation, it is critical to 
ensure that the organisation 
has adequate reserves. 

the level of reserves is required 
to cover the following activities 
of the organisation:
 - provide funding for 

sustainable programmes.
 - meet contractual liabilities 

such as lease agreements, 
statutory staff payments 
and payments to creditors. 

 - maintain a required level 
of funding available for 
overseas programmes 
during times of financial 
difficulty where fundraising 
income is diminished. 

1. statement of accounting policies (contd.)
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 - to facilitate programme/
project continuation 
especially where a partner 
submits a new or additional 
phase proposal in advance 
of the current activity being 
completed, in order to meet 
seasonal requirements 
(i.e. farming season) and 
prevent development gaps.

 - meet unanticipated 
expenses such as repairs 
and maintenance, currency 
variances and legal costs.

 - cover day to day 
expenditure of gorta-self 
help africa.

 - ensure there is adequate 
funding should any winding 
up costs ever arise.

 - provide for any other 
unanticipated expenditure 
of significance.

the Board may designate 
unrestricted reserves for 
specific future expenditure such 
as long term programmes, 
sinking funds to cover repairs 
to fixed assets (or as required 
under the terms of any lease 
relating to premises etc.) and 
any other potential future 
requirement(s).

the board has adopted a 
reserves policy based on 
foreseeable expenditure 
and in particular, long-term 

commitments to projects. in 
addition, a general reserve 
of €7million is specifically set 
aside to ensure the operation 
of the organisation for 12 
months, based on historical 
running costs and programme 
expenditure.

Investment Policy

all cash balances for planned 
development work are held 
in demand deposit accounts 
or short term investment 
accounts at the highest 
interest rates available at the 
time of investment. long 
term investments acquired by 
donation or through merger 
will not be held in the long term 
and will be disposed of within a 
reasonable time frame.  

Intangible 
Fixed Assets

intangible fixed assets including 
goodwill are stated at cost 
less amortisation. the asset is 
amortised over a period of five 
years which is management’s 
best estimate of the asset’s 
useful economic life.

Acquisition Funding 
Reserve

the acquisition funding 
reserve relates to a grant 
received for the purchase of 
the ethical Business services 
division of africa now. the 
reserve is released to the 
statement of financial activities 
over the expected useful 
lives of the relevant assets 
purchased by five equal annual 
installments.

Pension Scheme

the charity operates defined 
contribution schemes for 
employees. the assets of the 
scheme are held and managed 
separately from those of the 
charity by independently 
administered funds. the annual 
contributions are charged to 
the statement of financial 
activities (sofa). 

Foreign Currencies

transactions in foreign currency 
are recorded at the rate ruling 
at the date of the transaction. 
monetary assets and liabilities 
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denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at 
the rate of exchange ruling 
at the balance sheet date. all 
differences are taken to the 
statement of financial activities 
(sofa). 
 
The balances sheet for the 
subsidiaries are translated 
at the prevailing year end 
rates and included in the 
consolidated balance sheet. 
The statements of financial 
activities for the subsidiaries 
are translated at an average 
rate for the year and 
included in the consolidated 
statement of financial 
activities. Any exchange 
gains or losses arising on 
consolidation are recognised 
in the statement of financial 
activities.

Taxation

no charge to tax arises due 
to the exempt status of the 
company and its subsidiaries, 
self help africa, self help 
africa (uK) and gorta uK. 
irrecoverable value added tax is 
expensed as incurred in these 
companies. 
 
 

partner africa is registered as 
a charity and benefits from 
corporation tax exemptions 
available to charitable bodies. 
it is however registered for vat 
in the uK and Kenya and is 
subject to Kenyan corporation 
tax.
 

Concessionary loans

concessionary loans are initially 
recognised and measured at 
the amount received or paid, 
with the carrying amount 
adjusted in subsequent years 
to reflect repayments and 
accrued interest as well as 
being adjusted if necessary for 
any impairment.

Onerous Contracts 

provision is made in respect of 
onerous contracts where the 
unavoidable costs of meeting 
the obligations under the 
contract exceed the economic 
benefits expected to be 
received under it and a reliable 
estimate can be made of such 
obligations and benefits. 

Comparative 
Amounts 

certain comparative amounts 
have been reclassified, 
where necessary, to ensure 
comparability with current 
financial year disclosure and to 
ensure compliance with sorp 
2015. 

1. statement of accounting policies (contd.)
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

2. critical accounting Judgements and Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

in the application of the company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, the directors are required 

to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. the estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 

and other factors that are considered to be relevant. actual results may differ from these estimates. 

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 

of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. information about critical 

judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 

financial statements is included in the accounting policies and notes to the financial statements.

the directors do not consider there are any critical judgements or sources of estimation requiring disclosure.

Total
2015

total
2014

€ €

committed giving 3,227,768 3,393,918
general donations 425,832 485,258
legacies 223,708 96,419
church gate collections and committee income 214,707 230,081
grow fund 148,977 111,490
gift aid refunds 35,651 32,642

4,276,643 4,349,808

3. donations and legacies
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4. charitable activities

notes to the consolidated financial statements

total
2015

total
2014

€ €
irish aid 2,469,510 2,527,080
irish aid (Zambia northern province) 1,607,310 1,884,112
irish aid (WorldWise global schools) 975,625 775,625
irish aid (ethiopia) 247,044 -
department for international development (uK) – ppa 2,444,509 1,784,812
department for international development (uK) – other 705,142 655,029
fhi uganda 853,515 829,719
Jersey overseas aid commission 475,374 318,961
canadian government - 214,506
Big lottery fund (uK) 364,393 192,344
cnfa ethiopia 245,401 168,290
african cashew alliance 137,288 44,274
european union 133,406 245,229
food and agriculture organisation 124,939 39,345
ethiopian agricultural transformation agency 124,655 112,363
gsma magri challenge fund/airtel malawi 112,255 -
irish league of credit unions 90,500 58,577
vitol foundation 81,628 47,833
crs malawi 75,572 -
millennium challenge account malawi 62,363 -
intersnack 60,591 -
fhi Kenya 58,764 70,625
ministry of agriculture & livestock (Zambia) 52,833 -
african cashew initiative 52,665 -
icco terrafina microfinance 35,000 30,000
tullow uganda/traidlinks 25,301 -
energy and environment partnership Kenya 20,876 94,379
oxfam malawi 16,468 -
african agriculture fund - technical assistance facility 13,433 -
centre for agriculture and Biosciences international 8,102 -
international potato centre 7,466 -
international seed sector development 7,010 -

11,689,298 10,093,103
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

7. charitable activities

field programme expenditure has been incurred in the following thematic areas: 

total
2015

total
2014

€ €
agriculture production 4,083,893 3,815,372
agribusiness development 4,712,859 2,885,595
nutrition 125,597 179,827
gender/inclusion 81,075 19,173
advocacy/policy 449,115 104,085
Water, sanitation & health 1,291,898 447,860
renewable energy 31,040 27,505
partner capacity Building 1,512,641 668,816

12,288,118 8,148,233

development education 1,179,214 1,110,052
direct salaries 2,498,749 2,220,979
programme support and Quality 532,148 308,413
research advocacy & communications 288,441 311,915
governance 171,716 543,323
support costs (note 10) 890,225 1,077,816

17,848,611 13,720,731

5. other trading activities

total
2015

total
2014

€ €
ethical audits 586,739 555,977
campaigns, events and treks 650,453 458,214

1,237,192 1,014,191

6. other

total
2015

total
2014

€ €
income from investments 80,939 183,735
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7. charitable activities (contd.)

field programme expenditure has been incurred in the following geographic areas: 

total
2015

total
2014

€ €
Zambia 2,936,506 2,594,384
uganda 1,798,585 2,002,694
ethiopia 1,918,665 1,632,433
Kenya 1,156,004 1,283,958
malawi 1,388,424 1,119,606
West africa 1,718,074 1,118,532
ethical trade services/enterprise development * 1,113,259 909,770
tanzania 82,447 264,155
rwanda 101,154 40,272
eritrea 75,000 -

12,288,118 10,965,804
adjustments** - (2,817,571)

12,288,118 8,148,233

* this work is carried on in over forty countries throughout africa.

** adjustments relate to programme expenditure previously approved which did not proceed and liabilities 

previously reflected as project deferred expenditure which have now been reversed due to revised contracts with 

the relevant implementing partners.

notes to the consolidated financial statements

total
2015

total
2014

€ €
staff costs 722,727 799,926
fundraising & promotional expenses 845,307 691,350

1,568,034 1,491,276

8. raising funds - other

expenditure on raising funds represents fundraising costs to raise both restricted and unrestricted income. this is 

analysed as follows: 
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9. retail income and expenditure

total
2015

total
2014

€ €
turnover from donated goods 910,957 852,365
less costs:
operating expenses (789,550) (744,397)
management expenses (106,464) (108,262)

(896,014) (852,659)

total net trading income / (expenditure) 14,943 (294)

trading income represents income from the sale of donated goods through the charity’s shops.

10. support costs

total
2015

total
2014

€ €
human resources 156,264 116,494
it/computer 40,439 39,944
postage, stationery & communications 72,461 51,879
premises 197,996 512,699
professional fees 121,735 178,643
other support costs 172,490 253,581
foreign exchange loss/ (gain) 128,840 (75,424)

890,225 1,077,816
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

11. net expenditure / income

total
2015

total
2014

€ €
auditors’ remuneration* 67,363 47,649
depreciation 113,169 110,251
amortisation of capital grants (16,649) (4,949)
gain/(loss) on fixed asset disposal 15,462 (468)
amortisation of intangible asset 47,262 42,577
acquisition reserve amortisation (60,583) (54,591)

*the auditors’ remuneration fee is in respect of audit only. no amounts were paid to the auditors in relation to 

advisory, tax advisory or other assurance services.

12. other recognised gains

total
2015

total
2014

€ €

exchange gain on consolidation 59,225 63,868
gain on investment assets 26,116 17,044

85,341 80,912

 the net (expenditure) / income for the financial year is stated after 

 charging /(crediting):
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13. taxation

total
2015

total
2014

€ €

tax has been provided for in the Kenyan branch of partner africa as follows:

Deferred tax credit 11,741 11,766

no charge to tax arises due to the exempt status of the company and its subsidiaries, self help africa, self help 

africa (uK) and gorta uK. irrecoverable value added tax is expensed as incurred in these companies.

partner africa is registered as a charity and benefits from corporation tax exemptions available to charitable bodies. 

it is however registered for vat in the uK and Kenya and is subject to Kenyan corporation tax. 

total
2015

total
2014

€ €

Wages and salaries 3,822,158 3,748,813
social welfare costs 369,832 345,620
pension costs 214,541 182,313

4,406,531 4,276,746

2015 
number

2014 
number

€60,001 – €70,000 5 5
€70,001 – €80,000 5 4
€80,001 – €90,000 2 2
€90,001 – €100,000 0 1
€100,001 – €110,000 0 0
€110,001 – €120,000 1 1

14. staff costs

the average number of employees during the financial year was 101 (2014: 99).  

no employee of the group acts as director. 

the total remuneration package of the chief executive comprised salary of €112,750 (2014: €112,750) plus 6.5% 

employer pension contribution. 

the number of employees whose salaries (excluding employer pension contributions) were greater than €60,000 

were as follows:
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

15. director remuneration and expenses

directors are not remunerated, but are entitled to be reimbursed for out of pocket expenses incurred in the course 

of carrying out their duties.

16. Key management compensation

the total remuneration for key management personnel for the financial year amounted to €442,394 (2014: 

€449,162).

Fixed Assets - Group
shop

fittings
furniture and 

equipment
motor

vehicles
total
2015

€ € € €

Cost
at 1st January 2015 270,296 505,707 252,289 1,028,292
additions - 46,543 9,640 56,183
disposals (47,607) (320,958) (3,749) (372,314)
exchange gain on consolidation - 3,536 (387) 3,149

At 31st December 2015 222,689 234,828 257,793 715,310

Depreciation 
at 1st January 2015 156,417 428,935 218,437 803,789
charge for financial year 28,316 50,906 33,947 113,169
on disposal (38,743) (314,437) (3,672) (356,852)
exchange loss on consolidation - 3,183 (374) 2,809

At 31st December 2015 145,990 168,587 248,338 562,915

Net book value 

At 31st December 2015
76,699 66,241 9,455 152,395

at 31st december 2014 113,879 76,772 33,852 224,503

17. fixed assets



86

notes to the consolidated financial statements

Fixed Assets - Group
shop

fittings
furniture and 

equipment
motor

vehicles
total
2014

€ € € €

Cost
at 1st January 2014 185,274 451,304 265,634 902,212
additions 85,022 48,772 - 133,794
disposals - (1,236) (17,068) (18,304)
exchange gain on consolidation - 6,867 3,723 10,590

At 31st December 2014 270,296 505,707 252,289 1,028,292

Depreciation 
at 1st January 2014 133,160 385,554 185,480 704,194
charge for the financial year 23,257 39,791 47,203 110,251
on disposal - (1,020) (17,068) (18,088)
exchange loss on consolidation - 4,610 2,822 7,432

At 31st December 2014 156,417 428,935 218,437 803,789

Net book value 

At 31st December 2014
113,879 76,772 33,852 224,503

at 31st december 2013 52,114 65,750 80,154 198,018 

17. fixed assets (contd.)

in respect of prior financial year:
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Fixed Assets - Company
shop

fittings
furniture and 

equipment
motor

vehicles
total
2015

€ € € €

Cost
at 1st January 2015 270,296 402,554 226,762 899,612
additions - 37,759 - 37,759
disposals (47,607) (318,530) - (366,137)

At 31st December 2015 222,689 121,783 226,762 571,234

Depreciation 
at 1st January 2015 156,417 350,465 198,751 705,633
charge for financial year 28,316 39,940 27,714 95,970
on disposal (38,743) (312,594) - (351,337)

At 31st December 2015 145,990 77,811 226,465 450,266

Net book value 

At 31st December 2015
76,699 43,972 297 120,968

at 31st december 2014 113,879 52,089 28,011 193,979 

17. fixed assets (contd.)
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17. fixed assets (contd.)

in respect of prior financial year:

Fixed Assets - Company
shop

fittings
furniture and 

equipment
motor

vehicles
total
2015

€ € € €

Cost
at 1st January 2014 185,274 112,136 226,762 524,172
additions 85,022 45,180 - 130,202
transfer from self help africa - 245,238 - 245,238

At 31st December 2015 270,296 402,554 226,762 899,612

Depreciation 
at 1st January 2014 133,160 102,089 157,558 392,807
charge for financial year 23,257 26,894 41,193 91,344
transfer from self help africa - 221,482 - 221,482

At 31st December 2014 156,417 350,465 198,751 705,633

Net book value 

At 31st December 2014
113,879 52,089 28,011 193,979

at 31st december 2013 52,114 10,047 69,204 131,365
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Market Value
unlisted 

securities
€

at 1st January 2015 42,855
disposals (46,189)
revaluations 763
exchange gain on consolidation 2,571

At 31st December 2015 -

18. fixed asset investment - group

In respect of prior financial year: 

Market Value

unlisted 
securities

€

at 1st January 2014 38,336
revaluations 1,908
exchange gain on consolidation 2,611

At 31st December 2014 42,855

the company did not hold any fixed asset investments in the current or prior financial year.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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total
2015

€

Cost
at 1st January 2015 219,253
exchange gain on consolidation 13,608

At 31st December 2015 232,861

Amortisation
at 1st January 2015 175,402
amortised for the financial year 47,262
exchange gain on consolidation 10,197

At 31st December 2015 232,861

Net book value 

At 31st December 2015
-

at 31st december 2014 43,851 

goodwill was purchased as part of the acquisition of the ethical Business services division of africa now in 2011. 

this business unit is now contained within a separate company limited by guarantee called partner africa. self help 

africa is the sole member of partner africa.

19. goodwill - group

20. short term investments

Group and company:

investments relate to a bequest of shares, the market value of which at 31st december 2015 was €147,997  

(2014: €117,635).
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21. cash at Bank and in hand

a) Group
total
2015

total
2014

€ €

By fund designation:
restricted 355,342 1,006,433
unrestricted 8,847,844 10,525,799

9,203,186 11,532,232

By account type:
deposit accounts 1,485,147 9,167,473
current accounts 7,603,206 2,177,405
county committee accounts 106,182 177,442
petty cash 8,651 9,912

9,203,186 11,532,232

b) Company
total
2015

total
2014

€ €

By fund designation:
restricted 355,342 1,066,243
unrestricted 7,965,583 9,217,552

8,320,925 10,283,795

By account type:
deposit accounts 1,325,450 8,664,900
current accounts 6,882,836 1,433,448
county committee accounts 106,182 177,442
petty cash 6,457 8,005

 
8,320,925 10,283,795
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22. debtors

a) Group
total
2015

total
2014

€ €

due from self help africa inc (note 36) 71,601 76,172
tax refunds on donations receivable 297,217 170,963
vat recoverable - 10,663
prepayments and other debtors 632,622 482,792
concessionary loan (note 29) 88,731 -
accrued income 345,742 491,451

1,435,913 1,232,041

b) Company
total
2015

total
2014

€ €

amount due from subsidiaries 349,398 794,658
due from self help africa inc (note 36) 71,601 76,172
tax refunds on donations receivable 84,323 23,985
prepayments and other debtors 412,499 318,960
accrued income 16,031 45,848

938,852 1,259,623
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

23. creditors (amounts falling due within one financial year)

a) Group
total
2015

total
2014

€ €

trade creditors and accruals 894,352 936,128
deferred revenue 42,199 52,440
other amounts payable (note 28) 48,487 88,094
vat liability 6,896 3,048
pension liability 14,466 14,465
paye/prsi liability 104,848 151,425

1,111,248 1,245,600

b) Company
total
2015

total
2014

€ €

trade creditors and accruals 710,696 717,001
pension liability 10,837 10,381
other amounts payable (note 28) 48,487 88,094
paye/prsi liability 90,443 137,148

860,463 952,624
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a) Group and Company
total
2015

total
2014

€ €

other amounts payable (note 28) 164,913 204,492

24. creditors (amounts falling due after more than one financial year)

25. financial instruments

the carrying value of the group’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below

a) Group (Note 22)
total
2015

total
2014

€ €
due from self help africa inc. 71,601 76,172
tax refunds on donations receivable 297,217 170,963
vat recoverable - 10,663
prepayments and other debtors 632,622 482,792
concessionary loan 88,731 -
accrued income 345,742 491,451

b) Company (Note 22)
total
2015

total
2014

€ €
amount due from subsidiaries 349,398 794,658
due from self help africa inc. (note 36) 71,601 76,172
tax refunds on donations receivable 84,323 23,985
prepayments and other debtors 412,499 318,960
accrued income 16,031 45,848

Financial Assets

measured at undiscounted amount receivable
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25. financial instruments (contd.)

a) Group (Note 23 and 24)
total
2015

total
2014

€ €
trade creditors and accruals 894,352 936,128
deferred revenue 42,199 52,440
other amounts payable (note 28) 213,400 292,586
vat liability 6,896 3,048
pension liability 14,466 14,465
paye/prsi liability 104,848 151,425

b) Company (Note 23 and 24)
total
2015

total
2014

€ €
trade creditors and accruals 710,696 717,001
pension liability 10,837 10,381
other amounts payable (note 28) 213,400 292,586
paye/prsi liability 90,443 137,148

Financial Liabilities

measured at undiscounted amount payable
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total 
2015

total 
2014

€ €
expiry date:
1 year 93,000 40,478
Between 2 and 5 years 180,157 51,108
over 5 years 154,229 445,146

Group total 427,386 536,732

26. commitments

at 31st december 2015 the company had total future minimum commitments under non-cancellable operating 

leases as follows:

27. pension scheme

the company operates employer sponsored defined contribution pension schemes which are available to all staff. 

during the year, the charity made contributions in respect of its employees who elected to contribute. the assets of 

the scheme are held separately from those of the company, in externally managed funds. 

the pension expense for the financial year amounted to €214,541 (2014: €182,313).

Balance outstanding at financial year end €14,466 (2014: €14,465).
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

28. onerous contract

provision has been made in the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 december 2015 in respect of 

a property lease where the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the lease exceed the economic 

benefits expected to be received under it. this excess of costs over benefits has been calculated at €213,400 

(2014: €292,586) of which €48,487 (2014: €88,094) is expected to arise within one year and €164,913 (2014: 

€204,492) after one year.

29. concessionary loan

a concessionary loan was advanced by self help africa (uK) to trutrade, during the year under review. the 

carrying amount of the concessionary loan was £65,387 at 31 december 2015. the loan was advanced exclusively 

for the purposes of liquidity support for trading transactions and not, for the avoidance of doubt, for any operational 

support.  at the close of each calendar year, the charitable company shall consider whether to continue with this 

investment.  in the event that the charitable company decides not to liquidate its investment, it shall continue to 

be used by trutrade for the same trading finance purposes, and under the same terms.  in the event that the 

charitable company decides to liquidate this investment, the full investment minus any incurred trading losses 

shall be returned to the charitable company within 90 days of communicating that decision to trutrade’s company 

secretary.  there is no interest charged on the loan and no security provided. 

self help africa (uK) has not committed to any further concessionary loans as at 31st december 2015.
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30. reconciliation of net (expenditure)/income to net cash outflow  
from charitable activities

total
2015

total
2014

€ €

Net (Expenditure)/Income for the Reporting Year (2,117,630) 428,536
(as per the Statement of Financial Activities)
Adjustments for:
depreciation 113,169 110,251
amortisation of capital grants (8,592) (4,949)
amortisation of purchased goodwill 47,262 42,577
amortisation of acquisition funding reserve (60,583) (54,591)
loss/(gain) on fixed asset disposal 15,462 (468)
exchange gain on consolidation 59,225 63,868
exchange gain on deferred tax asset (2,680) (4,778)
exchange loss/(gain) on consolidated fixed assets 569 (3,684)
decrease in investments 12,493 13,197
increase in stock (707) (389)
(increase)/decrease in debtors (203,872) 376,466
decrease in creditors- amounts due within one year (134,352) (2,277,190)
decrease in creditors- amounts due over one year (39,579) (1,346,289)
interest received (80,939) (183,735)

Net Cash used in Charitable Activities (2,400,754) (2,841,178)

Analysis of Changes in Cash and Cash Equivalents

at 1st January 
2015

cashflows
2015

at 31st 
december

2015
€ € €

cash at bank and in hand 11,532,232 (2,329,046) 9,203,186
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net income 
(expenditure) 

for the year

funds of the 
charity at the  

year end
€ €

gorta (2,231,214) 8,498,366
self help africa (uK) 6,826 756,131
partner africa 104,058 200,314
gorta uK 2,700 212,037

Group total (2,117,630) 9,666,848

31. legal status of the company

gorta’s consolidated financial statements combine the activities of gorta in ireland and self help africa (uK), 

gorta uK and partner africa. the net expenditure for the year, and the funds of the charity of each of the group 

companies at the financial year-end are detailed below.

(i) Reconcilliation of funds
restricted

funds
unrestricted

funds
total

funds
€ € €

fund balance at 1st January 2015 1,418,906 10,262,748 11,681,654
net expenditure for the year (785,572) (1,234,976) (2,020,548)

Fund balances at 31st December 2015 633,334 9,027,772 9,661,106

(ii) Analysis of net assets between funds
restricted

funds
unrestricted

funds
Balance  

31/12/2015
€ € €

tangible fixed assets - 146,653 146,653
current assets 633,334 10,157,280 10,790,614
liabilities - (1,276,161) (1,276,161)

Total funds 633,334 9,027,772 9,661,106

32. funds of the charity

Group
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(iii) Movements in funds:
Balance as at

01/012016
income & 

endowments
expenditure Balance 

31/12/2016
€ € € €

restricted funds 1,418,906 9,165,190 (9,950,762) 633,334
unrestricted funds 10,262,748 9,126,921 (10,361,897) 9,027,772

Total funds 11,681,654 18,292,111 (20,312,659) 9,661,106

32. funds of the charity (contd.)

Group

(i) Reconciliation of funds:
restricted 

funds
unrestricted 

funds
total funds

€ € €

fund balance at 1st January 2015 1,066,243 9,631,673 10,697,916
net expenditure for the year (710,900) (1,494,391) (2,205,292)

Fund balances at 31st December 2015 355,342 8,137,282 8,492,624

Company

(ii) Analysis of net assets between funds:
deferred 

restricted funds
unrestricted 

funds
capital 
grants

Balance 
31/12/2016

€ € € €

tangible fixed assets - 115,226 5,742 120,968
current assets 355,342 9,047,432 - 9,402,774
liabilities - (1,025,376) - (1,025,376)

Total funds 355,342 8,137,282 5,742 8,498,366

(iii) Movements in funds:
Balance as at

01/012016
income & 

endowments
expenditure Balance 

31/12/2016
€ € € €

restricted funds 1,066,243 6,589,084 (7,299,985) 355,342
unrestricted funds 9,631,673 6,018,467 (7,603,463) 8,137,281
deferred capital grants - 5,742 - 5,742

Total funds 10,697,916 12,613,293 (14,812,843) 8,498,366
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€

Cost
at 1st January 2015 281,094
exchange gain on consolidation 17,446

At 31st December 2015 298,540

Amortisation
at 1st January 2015 224,884
amortised for the financial year 60,583
exchange gain on consolidation 13,073

At 31st December 2015 298,540

Net book value 

At 31st December 2015
- 

at 31st december 2014 56,210 

the acquisition funding reserve arises from the company’s acquisition of the ethical Business division of africa 

now in 2011 (now renamed and incorporated as partner africa). the funding of this investment is amortised to 

unrestricted funds over 5 years as management’s best estimate of the economic lives of the assets acquired.

33. acquisition funding reserve
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total
2015

€

Cost
at 1st January 2015 23,735
received during the year 13,799
exchange loss on consolidation (12)

At 31st December 2015 37,522

Amortisation
at 1st January 2015 15,763
amortised for the year 16,649
exchange gain on consolidation (632)

At 31st December 2015 31,780

Net book value 

At 31st December 2015
5,742

at 31st december 2014 7,972

34. deferred capital grants

35. financial risk management

Currency risk:

much of the organisation’s costs, particularly overseas costs, are denominated in euro and local currency while most 

income is received in euro. a strengthening of the local currency against the euro could have an adverse effect on 

gorta’s ability to deliver its planned programme of work. these currency risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. 

Cash flow risk:

gorta hold a number of bank accounts deposited in a number of different financial institutions ensuring the security 

of our funds and also endeavouring to maximise the return available. gorta earned investment income of €80,939 

in 2015 (2014: €183,735). the organisation’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest 

rates. interest bearing assets are held at fixed rates to ensure certainty of cash flows.

Credit risk:

the organisation’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, and current 

asset investments. the credit risk on cash at bank and current asset investments is limited because the counterparties 

are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. the organisation has no significant 

concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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36. self help africa inc.

self help africa inc. is a not for profit organisation registered in the united states of america. self help africa inc. 

is governed by an independent board of directors which retains full control over the financial and operating policies 

of the company. during the financial year self help africa inc. on-granted €nil of restricted income received (2014: 

€14,527) and €90,519 of voluntary income raised (2014: €52,777) to gorta projects. total amounts granted 

by sha inc. to gorta of €90,519 (2014: €67,304) have been included in the accounts of gorta under income 

and endowments and expenditure. a balance of €71,601 remained outstanding at 31st december 2015 (2014: 

€76,172) represented by a loan repayable by self help africa inc. to gorta.

37. explanation of transition to frs 102

this is the first year the company has presented its financial statements under financial reporting standards 102 

(frs 102) issued by the financial reporting council. the last financial statements under previous irish gaap were 

for the year ended 31st december 2014 and the date of transition to frs 102 was therefore 1st January 2014. as 

a consequence of adopting frs 102, a number of accounting policies have been changed to comply with that 

standard. none of these changes have resulted in an adjustment to equity reported under previous irish gaap at 

31st december 2014 or 1st January 2014 and there was no effect on losses previously reported for the year ended 

31st december 2014.

notes to the consolidated financial statements



104

rachel Jere, mtizwa village, 
eastern province, Zambia..



KENYA
po Box 25503-00100
nairobi
tel. +254 703 946477
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po Box B-495
lilongwe
tel. +265 175 0568
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plot 44 ministers’ village 
ntinda, Kampala
tel. +256 414 286 305

WEST AFRICA
12 po Box 418
ouagadougou 12
Burkina faso
tel. +226 503 68960

ZAMBIA
87 provident street
fairview, lusaka
tel. +260 211 236 604

IRELAND
Kingsbridge house, 
17–22 parkgate street,
dublin 8
tel. +353 (0)1 677 8880

UNITED KINGDOM
Westgate house, dickens court
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tel. +44 (0)1743 277170

14 dufferin street
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tel. +44 (0)20 7251 6466

UNITED STATES
41 union square West, suite 1027
new york, ny 10003
tel. +1 212 206 0847
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1.8 Million
people supported 

290,000
farming families assisted

19 Million
invested in ending poverty


